Indiana University of Pennsylvania Knowledge Repository @ IUP

Theses and Dissertations (All)

7-27-2011

Self-Efficacy Beliefs of Speech-Language Therapists Regarding their Skills in Collaboration to Work with Regular Education Classroom Teachers

Donna L. Hopstetter *Indiana University of Pennsylvania*

Follow this and additional works at: http://knowledge.library.iup.edu/etd

Recommended Citation

Hopstetter, Donna L., "Self-Efficacy Beliefs of Speech-Language Therapists Regarding their Skills in Collaboration to Work with Regular Education Classroom Teachers" (2011). *Theses and Dissertations (All)*. 683. http://knowledge.library.iup.edu/etd/683

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by Knowledge Repository @ IUP. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations (All) by an authorized administrator of Knowledge Repository @ IUP. For more information, please contact cclouser@iup.edu, sara.parme@iup.edu.

SELF-EFFICACY BELIEFS OF SPEECH-LANGUAGE THERAPISTS REGARDING THEIR SKILLS IN COLLABORATION TO WORK WITH REGULAR EDUCATION CLASSROOM TEACHERS

A Dissertation

Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies and Research

In Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Education

Donna L. Hopstetter

Indiana University of Pennsylvania

August 2011

Indiana University of Pennsylvania The School of Graduate Studies and Research Department of Professional Studies in Education

We hereby approve the dissertation of

	Donna L. Hopstetter
Candidate for the degree	of Doctor of Education
	Margot Waddington Vagliardo, Ed.D., Co-Chair Associate Professor, Department of Early Childhood & Elementary Education East Stroudsburg University
	Joseph Marcoline, D.Ed., Co-Chair Associate Professor Professional Studies in Education Indiana University of Pennsylvania
	Joyce Burgener, Ph.D. Assistant Professor Department of Special Education & Rehabilitation East Stroudsburg University
	Teri Burcroff, Ph.D. Professor Department of Special Education & Rehabilitation East Stroudsburg University
ACCEPTED	
Timothy P. Mack, Ph.D.	duate Studies and Posearch

Dean, The School of Graduate Studies and Research

Title: Self-Efficacy Beliefs of Speech-Language Therapists Regarding their Skills in Collaboration to Work with Regular Education Classroom Teachers

Author: Donna L. Hopstetter

Dissertation Chair/Co-Chairs: Dr. Margot Waddington Vagliardo, ESU;

Dr. Joseph Marcoline, IUP

Dissertation Committee Members: Dr. Joyce Burgener

Dr. Teri Burcroff

Using a mixed-method case study to investigate the self-efficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists in Pennsylvania, this study examined their beliefs and variables perceived to influence speech-language therapists' self-efficacy with regard to their ability to collaborate with regular education classroom teachers. Data from surveys and information from semi-structured interviews were used to answer the following two research questions: (1). What are the self-efficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists with regard to their ability to collaborate with regular education classroom teachers?

(2). What additional preparation, if any, do speech-language therapists believe they need to collaborate with regular education teachers?

Federal and state laws and practices mandating students be educated in least restrictive environments make it necessary to provide training to speech-language therapists on collaboration. The information gathered suggests that speech-language therapists working in schools in Pennsylvania report having strong self-efficacy beliefs regarding their skills to collaborate with regular education classroom teachers despite receiving minimal to no coursework and clinical experience in collaboration in bachelor's and master's level programs that prepare individuals to become speech-language therapists. The information gathered in this study also revealed many of the survey respondents and all of the interview participants felt they could benefit from additional

coursework in the area of collaboration and they could benefit from additional inservicing in the area of collaboration. A high number of respondents and all of the participants in this study identified workshops/trainings/lectures along with time spent planning, discussing and communicating with colleagues as the most beneficial means to learn about and develop skills and knowledge of collaboration. A surprising finding was uncovered during this study. Speech-language therapists working in schools in Pennsylvania may lack an accurate understanding of what it means to work in collaboration with regular education teachers. The collective information gathered from the study suggests that additional coursework addressing collaboration along with modifications to other avenues of professional preparation such as in-service opportunities, workshops, lectures and/or time spent planning, discussing and communicating with colleagues are desired and are necessary to ensure stronger and appropriate preparation of speech-language therapists planning to and/or working in collaboration with regular education teachers in schools.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The road to completing this dissertation was long and challenging. A journey I could not have completed without the support, patience, encouragement, guidance and exceptional knowledge of my doctoral committee, family and friends. I am forever thankful and I am deeply blessed to have all of you who have supported me in this scholarly quest.

It takes a great team of skilled and dedicated people to see a concept, and then turn it into reality. I've been blessed to have just such a team working with me on this dissertation and I appreciate each person who has contributed. I am honored and humbled to have worked Dr. Margot W. Vagliardo as my committee chairperson. Her exceptional knowledge of qualitative research, her ability to guide and inspire, her commitment to professional excellence and to my efforts is noteworthy. Without her the completion of this research project would not have happened. I am grateful to Dr. Joyce Burgener whose expertise, encouragement and willingness to listen was always a source of inspiration and to Dr. Terri Burcroff for her technical expertise. I am grateful to Dr. Joseph Marcoline as my committee co-chairperson who was generous with his advice and support throughout this process.

I am thankful to all of the individuals who took time to participate in this study. I would like to acknowledge Dr. Ron Prator for his insightful comments, Charles H. Metzger for his support and mentorship and Marie M. Abbazio for her advice and constant encouragement. I owe many thanks to Kevin Smith for his quiet patience and support; my late brother David W. Hopstetter who taught me never to settle for good work as it is the enemy of great work. To my brothers Mark F. and Michael K. Hopstetter who have always been my greatest source of pride – I can only hope you are as proud of

me as I have always been of you. Finally, I give my love and thanks to my parents Walter C. and Beverly A. Hopstetter. Their unconditional love, boundless support and life led by example have taught me through faith, hard work and love, all things are possible.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter	Paş	ge
I	INTRODUCTION	.1
	Collaboration in Education. Teacher Self-Efficacy Beliefs. Purpose of the Study. Definitions of Key Terms. Summary.	.5 .7 .8
II	REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	11
	Introduction. Theoretical Framework for Self-Efficacy. Sources of Self-Efficacy Development. Influences of Self-Efficacy Beliefs. Teacher Self-Efficacy Beliefs. Studies about the Development of Teachers' Efficacy Beliefs. Teacher Self-Efficacy of Novice Teachers. Theoretical Framework for Collaboration. Collaborative Teams and the Effectiveness of Collaboration. The Importance of Collaboration in Education. Collaborative Service Delivery with Speech-Language Therapists. The Challenges of Collaborating and Overcoming Challenges to Collaborating. Professional Development of Speech-Language Therapists. Past Professional Preparation of Speech-Language Therapists. Present Professional Preparation of Speech-language Therapists. Maintenance of Professional Credentials in Pennsylvania. Summary.	12 15 17 17 18 19 20 23 25 26 30 33 34 35
III	METHODS AND PROCEDURES	40 41 42 42
	Settings	43

	Interview Setting	. 45
	Data Gathering Instruments and Pilot Study	46
	Survey Instrument	
	Interview Instrument	
	Validity and Trustworthiness of the Study	
	Pilot Study of Survey and Interview Instruments	
	Procedures	
	Data Collection.	. 51
	Surveys	
	Interviews	
	Data Analysis	
	Data Analysis of Surveys	
	Data Analysis of Interviews	
	Assumptions and Limitations of the Study	
	Participants and Research Topic	
	Researcher Bias and Reactivity	
	Reactivity	
	Summary	. 61
IV	FINDINGS	62
	Introduction	.65
	with Regular Education Classroom Teachers	
	Perceived Self-Efficacy Beliefs	
	Sources of Self-Efficacy Development	
	Influence of Self-Efficacy Beliefs	
	Development of Teacher Self-Efficacy Beliefs	
	to Work with Regular Education Teachers	.73
	Challenges of Collaboration	78
	Unexpected Findings	. 80
	Conclusion	
V	FINDINGS, CONCLUSIONS AND IMPLICATIONS	. 83
	Introduction	.83
	Findings and Conclusions	. 85
	Implications	
	Recommendations for Further Study	
	Summary	

REFERENCES	94
APPENDICES	124
Appendix A - Pre-Contact Letter	
Appendix B - Introduction Letter - Survey Instrument	125
Appendix C - Speech-Language - Survey Instrument	126
Appendix D - Speech-Language Therapist - Interview Instrument	132
Appendix E – Conceptual Framework for Self-Efficacy	136
Appendix F – Conceptual Framework for Collaboration	138

LIST OF TABLES

Ta	Table	
1	Survey Sections and Content	51
2	Data Collection – Flow Chart	53
3	Data Analysis of Interviews	56
4	Categories and Themes Related to Self-Efficacy Beliefs of Speech-Language Therapists Regarding Their Skills to Collaborate with Regular Education Classroom Teachers	64
5	Categories and Themes of Collaboration Speech-Language Therapists Feel They Need Regarding Working with Regular Education Classroom Teachers	65
6	Data Results of Survey Questions – Perceived Skills and Knowledge Regarding Collaboration	71
7	Number of Courses Taken Entirely or Partially on Collaboration at the Undergraduate and Graduate Level for Survey Respondents and Interview Participants while enrolled in Under-Graduate and Graduate Programs For Speech-Language Therapy	74
8	Courses Taken on Collaboration at a College or University After Receiving Highest Degree and Percentage of Individuals Who Participated in Workshops, Staff Trainings, Trainings From Colleagues and Professional Journal Readings.	75
9	Number of Survey Respondents That Feel They could Benefit From Additional Coursework in the Area of Collaboration	76

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Language is the foundation upon which much of a student's educational progress rests. If educators are going to teach children to be academically successful, speech-language skills need to be taught in the classroom where learning is meaningful (Ferguson, 1992). For many students with disabilities, language and speech are connected to their disability. Therefore, the speech-language therapist in an educational setting is a critical element in ensuring a child's success in school.

From the early job labels of "speech teacher" or "speech correctionist" (O'Connell, 1997), a variety of job titles have described the professional who treats speech and language disorders in schools. Some of these job titles have included: speech teacher, speech-language specialist, communication specialist, speech therapist, and speech-language pathologist. For the purpose of this study, the title speech-language therapist refers to a person who provides a speech-language program addressing speech and language disorders in a school setting with students ages 3 - 21.

A speech-language therapist is someone who is educated to prevent, screen, assess, diagnose, identify, refer, intervene, and counsel individuals at risk for a variety of speech and language disorders. A speech-language therapist may be called upon to address communication disorders, speech disorders, and/or language disorders. These speech and language disorders include, but are not limited to articulation, phonology, fluency, voice, language, communication, and swallowing. In addition to engaging in activities to reduce or prevent speech and language disorders, speech-language therapists

also educate families and/or professionals about these disorders and their management (American Speech-Language-Hearing Association, 1996b).

According to Montgomery (1992), speech-language support services may be provided in three forms: direct, indirect or collaborative.

- A student can be served *directly* by a speech-language therapist, individually or in a group of students. This is typically done in a traditional pull-out model of service delivery.
- A student can be served *indirectly* by a speech-language therapist in a small group or with the whole class in the student's classroom through consultation with the classroom teacher.
- A student can be served *collaboratively* by a speech-language therapist and another trained person in a school setting.

The American Speech-Language-Hearing Association's (ASHA) 2006 nationwide survey on school services reported that speech-language therapists spend, on average: 21 hours per week in traditional pull-out service, 4 hours in classroom based and self-contained classrooms, 2 hours in collaborative activities, 2 hours in pre-referral activities or response to intervention activities, and approximately 1 hour in a resource room.

Collaborating and transferring information between disciplines enables team members to share responsibility for delivering quality services. The trans-disciplinary team structure requires a high degree of collaboration whereby team members transfer general information, skills and performance competencies traditionally associated with one discipline to team members of other disciplines (Lyon & Lyon, 1980; Patterson, D'Wolff, Hutchison, Lowry, Schilling, & Siepp, 1976; Rainforth, York, & Macdonald, 1992). It is

important to note that speech-language therapists have reported a decrease in the amount of time spent in traditional or pull-out service delivery in the past six years. ASHA reported an average of 23 hours per week in 2000, in comparison with 21 hours per week in 2006 (ASHA, 2000, 2006).

Despite the view that traditional, pull-out models are viewed as more restrictive and less optimal than classroom-based approaches (Dekemel, 2003; Thorneburg, Calvert, Sturm, Paramboukas, & Paul, 2000), school-based speech-language therapists have reported that they continue to spend a majority of their time in traditional, pull-out services (ASHA, 2006). This practice persists although multiple researchers (Friend, 2008; Friend & Cook, 2007; Mastropieri, 2005; Prelock, Miller & Reed, 1995; Sands, Kozleski, & French, 2000; Walther-Thomas, Korinek, McLaughlin, & Williams, 2000) have identified collaboration and co-teaching as best practices.

Collaboration in Education

The *Individuals with Disabilities Education Act* (IDEA, 1997) Amendments of 1997 or IDEA '97 encouraged and promoted the integration of school speech-language services into the rest of the child's educational program. This perspective continued with the reauthorization of IDEA in the Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act of 2004 (IDEA 2004). IDEA '04 states that students with disabilities are to be educated, to the maximum extent appropriate, with peers without disabilities. Federal legislation requires that when deciding the most appropriate, yet least restrictive, environment for students with disabilities, the general education classroom with all necessary related services should be the initial consideration. For many speech-language therapists, this has meant providing therapy to studenst in their classrooms instead of

pulling them out to a therapy room (Wilcox, Kouri, & Caswell, 1991). While federal law does not require the placement of all students with disabilities in the regular education classroom, it presumes this setting is most appropriate unless evidence demonstrates that another setting is required to better meet the students' needs (Kerzner-Lipsky, 2003). The focus of the child's progress in the general curriculum has stimulated, and in some instances even necessitated, more collaboration among team members (Eger, 2000). From the point of initial identification, to planning, to implementation, and then through follow-up, a team comprised of educators and family members is expected to work together on behalf of the child (Council for Exceptional Children, 2000).

On January 8, 2002, the Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESEA) was reauthorized by P.L. 107-110. This act, commonly known as the No Child Left Behind Act of 2001 (NCLB), forged stronger bonds between general and special education.

NCLB, along with the reauthorization of IDEA '04, emphasized the commonalities between general and special educators (Moore-Brown & Montgomery, 2005).

Inclusion, one of the guiding principles steering the education of students with disabilities, creates an educational environment that meets the needs of all students (Kavale, 2005). Collaboration provides a tool with which professionals can team to meet the spirit of this guiding principle.

In attempting to understand the challenges of collaboration, Hudson and Glomb (1997) stated that effective collaboration requires that teachers have knowledge and skills in how to effectively communicate and share their technical expertise for the purpose of solving classroom problems and providing continuity across instructional settings.

However, they further stated that few pre-service preparation programs provide both

special education and regular education majors with instruction in interpersonal communication skills and collaboration strategies. In order for regular and special educators to collaborate and work together to serve students with disabilities in regular education classrooms, teacher preparation programs must provide instruction in this area. A primary area of teacher training that would support students with disabilities in regular education classrooms is collaboration between regular and special educators (Friend & Bursuck, 1999). Training in collaboration may result in speech-language therapists having the confidence, skills and self-efficacy beliefs needed to work in collaboration with regular education teachers. It would appear that a strong sense of self-efficacy would be a key element for successful collaboration to occur between speech-language therapists and regular education classroom teachers.

Teacher Self-Efficacy Beliefs

Bandura (1997) defined self-efficacy beliefs as the belief an individual holds regarding his or her capability to learn or complete a task. In addition, Bandura suggested that an individual's self-efficacy in completing a task is related to perceived skill level, as well as the judgment of the individual regarding the possible success of completing a task. Bandura reported that without skills, a task could not be completed, but without self-efficacy, a task may not even be attempted.

Over the past 25 years teacher self-efficacy has been identified as being critical for improving teacher education and educational change (Ashton, 1984; Goddard, Hoy & Woolfolk Hoy, 2000; Rimm-Kaufman & Sawyer, 2004; Wheatley, 2002). The impact of teachers' self-efficacy beliefs has been addressed with regard to:

- teachers' willingness to try different strategies and use new teaching approaches (Ghaith & Yaghi, 1997; Gibson & Dembo, 1984)
- greater classroom-based decision making and positive classroom atmosphere
 (Borko & Putnam, 1996; Moore & Esselman, 1992; Richardson & Placier, 2001;
 Tschannen-Moran et al., 1998)
- effective planning and collaboration (Gibson & Dembo, 1984)
- teachers; attitudes toward collaboration (Ceren, 2005).

When individuals have low expectations regarding their behavior, they limit the extent to which they participate in an endeavor and are more apt to give up at the first sign of difficulty. In addition, an individual's self-efficacy beliefs may serve as barriers to their professional development (Hackett & Betz, 1981). Thus, beliefs that individuals hold about their abilities and about the outcomes of their efforts powerfully influence they ways in which they will behave.

When considering whether, and/or how, speech-language therapists collaborate with regular education teachers, the impact of the self-efficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists regarding their ability to collaborate with others needs to be considered. Knowing that self-efficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists regarding their ability to collaborate with others affects collaboration, the personnel responsible for pre-service and in-service training can ensure appropriate measures be taken to educate speech-language therapists to work collaboratively with other individuals.

One has difficulty finding studies that explore the self-efficacy beliefs of speechlanguage therapists regarding their ability to collaborate with regular education classroom teachers. Research to explore these beliefs would benefit personnel responsible for providing in-service and pre-service education to speech-language therapists. Pre-service personnel could plan course work that would enhance the knowledge, skills and confidence necessary for speech-language therapists to work in collaboration with regular education personnel. School administrators could plan staff development opportunities which would enhance knowledge, skills and confidence speech-language therapists have in their ability to voluntarily engage in collaboration with others using various models of collaboration as they engage in shared decision-making to work toward a common goal to provide specific skills instruction to students. Based on a current literature review conducted for this study, improving self-efficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists may increase the likelihood of their willingness to collaborate with others in general and with regular education classroom teachers in particular.

Purpose of the Study

Collaboration has been posited as key to the effective education of students with speech-language impairments. Teacher efficacy beliefs have been found to be a powerful teacher characteristic (Bandura, 1986) which affect many aspects of teacher behaviors and practices. Information that leads to a better understanding of the development of self-efficacy beliefs and the actual self-efficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists relative to their ability, knowledge and skills to collaborate with regular education teachers will enhance the awareness of personnel responsible for pre-service and in-service professional development programs relevant to the needs of speech-language therapists. In addition, discussion regarding financial resources may be made in a manner that influences the positive growth of the self-efficacy beliefs and collaboration skills of speech-language therapists.

Using a mixed-method case study to investigate the self-efficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists in Pennsylvania, this study examined their beliefs and variables perceived to influence speech-language therapists' self-efficacy with regard to their ability to collaborate with regular education classroom teachers. Data from surveys and information from interviews were used to answer the following two research questions:

- 1. What are the self-efficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists with regard to their ability to collaborate with regular education classroom teachers?
- 2. What additional preparation, if any, do speech-language therapists believe they need to collaborate with regular education teachers?

Definition of Key Terms

For the purpose of this study, the following operational definitions were used:

Speech-Language Therapist. An individual who works with the full range of human communication and its disorders. These individuals evaluate, diagnose, and treat articulation, phonological, language, voice and fluency disorders in students ages 3-21.

<u>Co-Teaching.</u> A service delivery model in which regular education and special education teachers combine their expertise to jointly teach a heterogeneous group of students, with and without disabilities, in a single classroom for part or all of the school day (Friend, 2006).

<u>Collaboration</u>. The direct interaction of two or more equal parties with trust in one another, voluntarily engaged in shared decision-making and shared accountability as they work towards common goals when instructing students (Friend & Cook, 2007).

<u>Self-Efficacy</u>. The belief in one's capabilities to organize and perform the actions or tasks required in order to bring about desired outcomes (Bandura, 1977).

<u>Teacher Self-Efficacy Beliefs.</u> A teacher's judgment of his or her capabilities to bring about the desired outcomes of student engagement and learning (Bandura, 1977).

Service Delivery. Dimensions of service delivery include where the services are provided, by whom, and on what schedule. Service delivery models need to be individualized on the basis of each student's speech and language needs and life circumstances. Service delivery options for speech-language therapists typically include three distinct models: traditional pull-out or direct, classroom-based or collaborative and consultation or indirect.

<u>Traditional Pull-Out Services.</u> The speech-language therapist works directly with an individual and/or small group of students in a separate instructional room or area (ASHA, 1999).

<u>Classroom Based Services</u>. Speech-language services are provided to students directly in the classroom in collaboration with the regular education classroom teacher.

<u>Trans-disciplinary Team</u>. Team members from different disciplines who engage in a high degree of collaboration focusing on holistic goals for the individual, rather than just discipline-specific goals (Glennen & DeCoste, 1997).

<u>Pre-service Training</u>. Education provided to students preparing to teach or become teachers (http://gse.berkeley.edu/research/credearchive/tools/glossary.html).

<u>In-service Training</u>. Education provided to teachers who are currently teaching (http://gse.berkeley.edu/research/credearchive/tools/glossary.html).

Summary

Speech-language services in the schools serve a vital function for students with communication, speech, and language disorders in school settings. The provision of these services has evolved significantly over the past 50 years. This evolution of speech and language services is due to, in part, the change in Federal laws, the recognition of how important language skills are to students' educational progress and the critical need for professionals collaborating to ensure speech-language services become an integrated part of the general education curriculum. Collaboration in instruction is necessary so that students with speech-language disabilities can access the curriculum and receive meaningful educational benefit from the services they receive.

If much needed collaboration between speech-language therapists and regular education classroom teachers is going to successfully occur and continue to develop, self-efficacy beliefs and needed skills of speech-language therapists regarding their ability to collaborate with regular education classroom teachers needs to be explored. What additional preparation, if any, speech-language therapists believe they need to collaborate with regular education teachers also needs to be explored.

A review of the literature in chapter two will include theory, sources, influences, and beliefs of self-efficacy; collaboration, effectiveness of collaboration, challenges and overcoming the challenges of collaboration in education; past and present professional preparation of speech-language therapists; and maintenance of professional credentials of speech-language therapists.

CHAPTER II

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

Introduction

The role of the speech-language therapist in schools has evolved from that of a medical intervention model, whereby students were provided individual therapies focusing on articulation, fluency and voice, to that of an educational model of language facilitation in classroom settings. The change in service delivery requires collaboration between the speech-language therapist and the regular education classroom teacher. The purpose of this study was to investigate the self-efficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists regarding their ability to collaborate with regular education classroom teachers. In order to design a study that would answer these questions:

- 1. What are the self-efficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists regarding their skills to collaborate with regular education classroom teachers?
- 2. What additional preparation, if any, do speech-language therapists believe they need in collaboration to work with regular education teachers?

information and research on self-efficacy was examined along with information and research studies regarding collaboration, the effectiveness and challenges of collaboration and overcoming challenges to collaboration. In addition, past and present professional preparation of speech-language therapists was examined.

A careful review of the literature did not find research that examined the selfefficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists regarding their ability to work in collaboration with regular education classroom teachers. This may be due to the fact that speech-language therapists have historically been educated in a medical model and have provided medical or clinical based services to students identified with speech and language disorders. However, a number of studies exist on self-efficacy and the self-efficacy of teachers regarding certain subject areas or skills (Hackett & Betz, 1981; Gibson & Dembo, 1984; Emmer & Hickman, 1990; Moore & Esselman, 1992; Allinder, 1994; Borko & Putnam, 1996; Pajares, 1997; Bandura, 1997, 1986, 2001; Ghaith & Yaghi, 1997; Tschannen-Moran, Woolfolk Hoy & Hoy, 1998; Brouwers & Tomic, 2000; Henson, 2001; Darling-Hammond, Chung, & Frelow, 2002; Johnson & Birkeland, 2003). In addition, a large number of studies exist on collaboration (Falvey, 1989; Cook & Friend, 1991; Ryndak & Alder, 1996; Duchardt, Marlow, Inman, Christensen & Reeves, 1999;; Hudson & Glomb, 1997; Mastropieri, 2005). For the purpose of this study, literature that addresses self-efficacy and the self-efficacy beliefs of teachers, collaboration, and professional preparation of speech-language therapists was examined to gain background information, learn what type of similar research has already been conducted and determine what new research is necessary.

Theoretical Framework for Self-Efficacy

The foundations of self-efficacy theory are deeply rooted in the social cogitive theory developed by Albert Bandura. Bandura's (1986) social cognitive theory states that individuals have a system within themselves that enables them to exercise control over thoughts, feelings and actions. In 1977 Bandura described his theory in a study titled "Self-Efficacy: Toward a Unifying Theory of Behavioral Change." He defined self-efficacy as the "belief in one's capabilities to organize and execute the courses of action required in producing given attainments" (p.3). Similarly, in 1997 Bandura described perceived self-efficacy as "a judgment of one's ability to organize and execute given

types of performances" (p.21). Self-efficacy is not concerned with the capabilities or skills an individual has. Self-efficacy is concerned with what the person believes he or she is capable of doing under various circumstances. Self-efficacy judgments are task and situation specific, meaning they are made in reference to some type of goal (Bandura, 1997).

Bandura (1977) argued that individuals exercise control over their environment through creation and development of perceived capabilities of self that become important to the attainment of future goals. Bandura (1986, 2001) along with Lent, Brown and Hackett (1994) noted that self-efficacy beliefs:

influence whether people think self-enhancingly or self-debilitatingly, optimistically or pessimistically; what course of action they choose to pursue; the challenges and goals they set for themselves and their commitment to them; how much effort they put forth in certain endeavors; the outcomes they expect their efforts to produce; how long they persevere in the face of obstacles; their resilience to adversity; how much stress and depression they experience in coping with taxing environmental demands; and the accomplishments they realize. (Bandura, 2001, p. 2).

According to Bandura's theory, self-efficacy beliefs are the key mediators for behavior and behavioral change and have a great impact on things such as success and failure of a given task (Henson, 2001).

Bandura (1986) noted that self-efficacy beliefs can predict how an individual behaves. Bandura suggested that individuals control the amount of effort they put forth in

an activity in accordance with the outcomes they expect, and the beliefs individuals hold are a greater predictors of behavior than are the actual consequences of an action.

According to Henson (2001), the predictive nature of self-efficacy for any behavioral task makes Bandura's theory important for social scientists and anyone who wants to help individuals change behavior. Bandura believed that self-reflection enables individuals to evaluate their experiences and thought processes. Through the process, individuals come to know their capabilities by knowing the skills they possess, however this knowledge may not always predict performance because of the beliefs that the individual has regrading this knowledge (Pajares, 1997). According to Pajares, although skills are necessary, an individual's beliefs of one's skills have a greater impact on determining behavior than actual skill.

Bandura (2001) stressed that self-efficacy is not the same as self-esteem, locus of control and outcome expectancies. He noted that self-efficacy is a judgment of capability, whereas self-esteem is a judgment of self-worth. Locus of control is not concerned with perceived capability so much as outcome contingencies. Bandura further noted that outcome expectancies are concerned with the judgment of possible consequences of completing a task. Outcomes do play an essential role in shaping self-efficacy beliefs. Pajares (1997) noted that outcomes seen as successful raise self-efficacy beliefs and outcomes viewed as failures lower the beliefs especially if failures occur before a sense of efficacy is firmly established. In the process of developing self-efficacy beliefs, a person engages in a behavior, interprets the results of the action, and using his or her interpretations, creates or develops the beliefs about his or her capabilities. For example, pre-service teachers develop beliefs about their academic capabilities as a result of their

participation in course work and field experiences. These beliefs help determine what they teach and how well they use the knowledge and skills they have learned to teach it effectively (Plourde, 2002).

Sources of Self-Efficacy Development

Individuals shape their self-efficacy beliefs through four main sources of influence which can develop both high and low self efficacy beliefs (Bandura, 1986). The four sources of self-efficacy development are (a) mastery experiences or previous performance achievement, (b) vicarious experiences, (c) verbal persuasion and (d) physiological and affective states. Among these efficacy sources, mastery experiences or previous performance achievement most strongly affects efficacy appraisals (Bandura, 1986). Successes build self-efficacy, while failures decrease it. Thus, developing a resilient sense of self-efficacy experiences in overcoming setbacks, difficulties and obstacles in the pursuit of one's goals can serve a useful purpose in teaching the individual that success usually requires perseverance over time. After people become convinced they can succeed, these individuals are more likely to persevere in the presence of adversity and rebound from setbacks (Bandura, 1986).

The second source for developing self-efficacy beliefs occurs through the vicarious experiences of other individuals. While social comparison and models are considered to be a weaker source of developing self-efficacy beliefs than mastery experiences, social comparison and models are significant and are important in the development of self-efficacy beliefs that influence a person's course of action (Schunk, 1981, 1983, 1989). The impact of modeling on perceived self-efficacy is strongly influenced by perceived similarity to the models. People seek proficient models that

possess the competencies to which they aspire. Seeing people similar in age or ability succeed by sustained effort increases observers' beliefs that they also possess the capabilities to master comparable activities to succeed. Likewise, observing others fail despite their efforts lowers observers' judgments of their own self-efficacy and undermines their efforts (Bandura, 1986).

Verbal persuasion or feedback is the third source for the development of self-efficacy beliefs. While verbal persuasion or feedback enhances the development of individuals' self-efficacy beliefs, the verbal judgment of others has less significance than the other three sources of efficacy beliefs (Zeldin & Pajares, 1997). Effective verbal persuasion cannot be filled with meaningless praise (Bandura, 1997). It must cultivate a person's beliefs in his/her capabilities to attain success. Positive verbal persuasion encourages and gives power to a person's self-efficacy beliefs, while negative verbal persuasion weakens a person's self-efficacy beliefs. Self-efficacy beliefs can weaken through negative verbal persuasion more easily than they can strengthen through positive verbal persuasion (Bandura, 1986).

The fourth and final source for the development of self-efficacy beliefs is through physiological and affective states such as stress, anxiety, fatigue, arousal, and varying moods. People rely, in part, on their somatic and emotional states in judging their capabilities. The intensity of the emotional and physical reactions affects the perception of self-efficacy as does how they are perceived and interpreted. For example, people who have a high sense of self-efficacy view their state of affective arousal as having an energizing affect on performance, whereas people plagued by self-doubt regard their arousal as a debilitating. Likewise, a positive mood enhances perceived self-efficacy,

while a despondent mood diminishes perceived self-efficacy. Negative thoughts and fears regarding one's capabilities seem to lower self-efficacy beliefs and lead to inadequate performances. One must be careful not to judge an individual's competence based on their self-efficacy beliefs.

Influences of Self-Efficacy Beliefs

Understanding self-efficacy beliefs and the influence this construct has on an individual's success allows for understanding an individual's actions. Self-efficacy beliefs influence an individuals' self-regulation, motivation and the choices they make (Pajares, 1997; Herman, Meece, & McCombs, 2000). Most individuals have a tendency to choose activities in which they feel competent and confident and avoid those in which they are not. Therefore, individuals that develop skills and knowledge in collaboration through pre-service and in-service training may develop the competence and the confidence to provide service to students in a collaborative manner.

The self-efficacy construct influences thought patterns and emotions that enable people to pursue goals, rebound from setbacks, persist through hardships and exercise some control over events that affect their lives. This construct has been linked to social skills (Moe & Ziess, 1982), assertiveness (Lee, 1983, 1984), clinical problems, choices people make, perseverance in a task (Bandura, 1983, 1986), and teaching behaviors (Pajares, 1996).

Teacher Self-Efficacy Beliefs

Teacher efficacy is a sub-category of self-efficacy that grew out of Bandura's social cognitive theory (1986). Bandura (1977) defines teacher efficacy as a teacher's judgment of his or her capabilities to bring about the desired outcomes of student

engagement and learning. Fletcher (1990) expands Bandura's definition and defines teacher efficacy as a teacher's judgment of ability to function as an instructional leader in the classroom and contribution to school instructional policy. Teacher efficacy defined by others includes the extent to which teachers believe they have the capacity to affect student performance (Berman, McLaughlin, Bass, Pauly, & Zellman, 1997); confidence in their ability to promote students' learning (Tschannen-Moran & Woolfolk Hoy, 2001); beliefs about their convictions that they can influence how well students learn, even the unmotivated and difficult students (Guskey & Passaro, 1994), perceptions about their own capabilities to foster students' learning and engagement (Shaughnessy, 2004) and the extent to which teachers believe they can control the reinforcement of actions within themselves or in the environment (Rotter, 1966). The definitions of teacher self-efficacy indicate that educators must examine how teacher self-efficacy beliefs develop and how they impact speech-language therapists collaborating with regular education classroom teachers.

Studies about the Development of Teachers' Self-Efficacy Beliefs

Determining if teacher self-efficacy causes or occurs as a consequence of the adoption of good teaching techniques is difficult (Ross, 1994). According to Bandura (1997), positive change in self-efficacy occurs only when persuasive feedback forcefully disrupts the preexisting disbelief in one's capabilities.

Ross (1994) found that personal teaching efficacy appeared to be influenced by different levels of preparation and professional development. Personal teaching efficacy beliefs in experienced teachers appear to be particularly difficult to change because of the internal nature of beliefs that have solidified with experience and time. However,

professional development opportunities can affect teachers' efficacy beliefs by compelling teachers to think critically and behave in a manner that improves their classroom and instructional practices (Henson, 2001).

Teacher self-efficacy beliefs play a key role in teachers' development of knowledge and practices that influence their effectiveness in instructional strategies, interaction with students and other professionals, and their commitment to a career in teaching (Smylie, 1988; Tschannen-Moran, Woolfolk-Hoy & Hoy, 1998). Teacher self-efficacy also predicts students' achievement beliefs. The evidence about teacher self-efficacy makes it an important construct in promoting educational reform and improving teacher education (Goddard, Hoy, & Woolfolk-Hoy, 2000; Rimm-Kaufman & Sawyer, 2004; Ross, 1998; Wheatley, 2002). This evidence has also provided justification for educational opportunities that promoted the development of high levels of teacher self-efficacy in pre-service and in-service teachers.

Teacher Self-Efficacy of Novice Teachers

A few longitudinal studies have tracked teacher self-efficacy with pre-service and novice teachers. Bandura's (1977) research found that self-efficacy develops more easily in the early years of learning. Woolfolk-Hoy (2000) extended this notion to imply that the early years of teaching could be critical to the long term development of teacher self-efficacy. Some of the most powerful influences on the development of teacher self-efficacy take place during student teaching and the induction year through mastery experiences (Bandura, 1986; Woolfolk-Hoy, 2000). When teacher self-efficacy beliefs become established they appear to resist change.

Woolfolk-Hoy (2000) suggested that the self-efficacy beliefs of first-year teachers are influenced by levels of stress, commitment to teaching, satisfaction with support, and preparation. Beginning teachers with high levels of self-efficacy found satisfaction in teaching, experienced less stress and had a more positive reaction to teaching, and gave higher ratings to the support they received from other school personnel (Woolfolk-Hoy, 2000). Novice teachers with high levels of teacher efficacy felt that they experienced high quality teacher preparation. They also felt that teaching was not as difficult, unlike teachers with low efficacy who reported more difficulty (Hall, Burley, Villeme, & Brockmeier, 1992). Based on the work of Henson (2001); Smylie (1988); Tschannen-Moran, Woolfold-Hoy and Hoy (1998); Ross (1998); Goddard, Hoy and Woolfolk-Hoy (2000); Wheatley (2002); Rimm-Kaufman and Sawyer (2004) and Bandura (1977) every effort must be made to ensure that young teachers develop strong self-efficacy beliefs so they will have the confidence to work collaboratively with colleagues to meet the unique and challenging demands of students with disabilities who are placed in a variety of educational settings.

Theoretical Framework for Collaboration

Collaboration refers to the way in which professionals interact with each other as they work together to instruct students. More specifically, collaboration is the direct interaction of two or more equal parties voluntarily engaged in shared decision-making as they work toward a common goal of instructing students (Friend & Cook, 2007). In a collaborative instructional approach one regular education teacher and one related service professional such as a speech-language therapist (Friend & Cook, 2007) work together to provide instruction, accommodations and modifications for all students in the regular

education classroom (Gerber & Poop, 1999). Friend and Cook (2003, 1992) have developed a list of defining characteristics of collaboration. According to their framework, collaboration is voluntary and teachers share mutual goals, resources, and responsibility. There is parity between teachers and both have shared decision making and shared accountability. Collaboration is marked by trust in one another, a sense of community exists for all parties and the parties value this interpersonal style of interacting.

The research findings of Walther-Thomas, Bryant, and Land (1996) focused on inclusion and teaming between teachers to assess collaboration between regular education and special education staff. In schools where collaborative teaching has been practiced, regular education students and students with special needs have benefitted. Staff reported professional growth, personal support and enhanced teaching motivation. Collaboration brought complementary professional skills to the planning, preparation, and delivery of classroom instruction. Benefits to students were attributed to more teacher time and attention, reduced pupil-teacher ratios, and more opportunities for individual assistance.

A study in 1992 conducted by Rainforth, York and Macdonald supported the collaborative teamwork approach. It studied integrating related services in educational programs for students with severe disabilities. The research found that the day to day actions of individual team members are shaped by a combination of foundational knowledge, and personal values. Effective teams explore the knowledge and values of their members, and work to articulate a set of beliefs that all members can support. These shared beliefs largely determine the nature and scope of the collaborative teamwork employed in the design and implementation of education, including the provision of

related services. When teams experience conflict, it occurs because they have not established this foundation and each individual team member operates from a different set of beliefs and assumptions.

According to Falvey (1989), collaborative teaming develops realistic and meaningful strategies for including students with diverse needs in community and school settings. Even more important, the approach furthers the process of developing and implementing viable inclusion strategies. Collaborative teaming is a synergistic model that strengthens through the contribution of each of its working parts. Through the process of combining separate expertise and skills to achieve a common goal, a collaborative team is able to accomplish much more together than the individuals could working alone. As individuals work together in a team effort with a common vision or goal, drawing upon the resources and strengths of each individual involved, they enhance their ability to achieve their purpose.

Vaughn, Schumm, and Anguelles (1997) demonstrated that important components of effective collaborative practices should include shared ownership of students and their academic progress, space, communication, classroom management and planning time.

Teachers learning and working together to achieve a common goal is considered by many researchers to be a key element of school reform efforts, including those targeted at improving the inclusion of students with disabilities in regular education settings (Darling-Hammond & McLaughlin, 1995; Johnson & Bauer, 1992; Pugach & Johnson, 2002). Pugach and Johnson (2002) stated

. . ".in collaborative working environments, teachers have the potential to create the collective capacity for initiating and sustaining ongoing improvement in their

professional practice so each student they serve can receive the highest quality of education possible" (p. 6).

Teachers and students benefit when given the opportunity to work and learn together (Rosenholtz, 1989; Snyder, 1994; Pugach & Johnson, 1995; Louis, Kruse, & Marks, 1996; Walther-Thomas, 1997; Trent, 1998). When individuals collaborate, information and skills are transferred between team members, encouraging individuals to focus on holistic goals for students instead of on discipline-specific goals. Transferring information between team members enables individuals to share responsibility for delivering quality instruction and services to students.

Collaborative Teams and the Effectiveness of Collaboration

Through collaboration individuals provide the most effective education services for a set of students, allowing students to maximize their participation in and contribution to life at school, at home and in their community. Ryndak and Alper (1996) define a collaborative team in an educational setting as a group of equal individuals who voluntarily contribute their knowledge and skills and participate in shared decision-making, while focusing on the efficiency of the whole team, as they work together in a spirit of willingness and mutual reward to problem solve and accomplish one or more common and mutually agreed upon goals.

Co-planning, and co-teaching arrangements can result in positive outcomes such as: developing trust and flexibility, collegiality, forming teaching and learning partnerships, developing professionally, meeting the needs of diverse learners and meeting the needs of teachers through teaming and problem solving, (Duchardt, Marlow, Inman, Christensen & Reeves, 1999).

An effective team of educators should work together as equal partners in interactive relationships, with everyone involved in all aspects of planning, teaching and assessment. Areas for collaboration include curricula and instruction, assessment and evaluation, and classroom management and behavior. As one teacher stated,

..."the key to making co-teaching work is joint planning. You must both know the curriculum so that you can switch back and forth and support each other's efforts. If you don't know the curriculum you are not a co-teacher, you are just an assistant" (Crutchfield, M. in press).

The key components for establishing collaborative partnerships in delivering services to children with communication disorders was described by Prelock, Miller and Reed (1995). They discussed establishing a trans-disciplinary approach to teaming, marketed the collaborative concept to enlist administrative support and recruit teachers, provided collaborative in-service training, and collaboratively planned and implemented lessons. They advocated moving beyond just the speech-language support teacher providing services within the classroom to collaborative teams sharing the responsibility for making decisions in the delivery of services to children with communication disorders.

The benefit of collaboration was observed by Bland and Prelock's study (1995) in which students in classroom settings were observed to develop better oral language skills than those who received more traditional pull-out instruction. Classroom rather than traditional pull-out instruction was also supported in a study by Throneburg, Calvert, Sturm, Paramboukas and Paul (2000). This study evaluated the effectiveness of three service delivery models for delivering speech and language services in the elementary

school setting. Differences were investigated among a collaborative model, a classroom-based intervention model with the speech-language therapist and classroom teachers working independently and a traditional pull-out model for children in kindergarten through third grade who qualified for speech or language services (the same curricular vocabulary targets and materials were used in all models). Results indicated that the collaborative model was more effective for teaching curricular vocabulary to students who qualified for speech-language services than a traditional pull-out model or a classroom-based model. Furthermore, the findings for students who were not enrolled in speech or language services indicated the collaborative model increased vocabulary skills more in these students than receiving only regular instruction from the classroom teacher.

The Importance of Collaboration in Education

It is essential to take steps to address the needs of children with speech and language difficulties. To be successful in school, students must be able to achieve curriculum goals that depend upon effective communication skills. This has challenged speech-language therapists to consider models of service delivery other than pull-out instruction (Prelock, Miller & Reed, 1995). Speech and language skills are so important in education that children with speech and language difficulties are at a disadvantage unless their unique and special needs are recognized, understood, and addressed in the classroom (Dockrell & Lindsay, 2000). Speech and language difficulties have been linked with problems in developing literacy (Dockrell & Lindsay, 1998) and difficulties with social behavior and self-esteem (Botting & Conti-Ramsden, 2000). Research shows that children who have unidentified speech and language difficulties appear to be more at risk of being excluded in school (Ripley & Yuill, 2005), and research links speech and

language problems to emotional and behavioral difficulties as well as psychiatric problems in later life (Cohen & Menua, 1998). Therefore, educators must continue to take steps to address the needs of children with speech and language difficulties. Unlike traditional pull-out services, collaborative service delivery bridges the gap between traditional speech-language therapy and the on-going communication demands of the classroom. The collaborative service delivery model promotes use of relevant content for therapy, enhances student involvement in the therapy process, and provides the opportunity for inter-professional growth among teachers (Magnotta, 1991).

Collaborative Service Delivery with Speech-Language Therapists

Special education consultation has been employed for several decades (Cook and Friend, 1991). Its evolution began with The Vermont Consulting Teacher Program in the 1970s. This program, using a consultative approach, prepared special education teachers to collaborate with regular education teachers who then provided special services in general education classes to students with disabilities.

The University of Vermont utilized a team process for making related service decisions. The process, known as the Vermont Independent Services Team Approach (VISTA), advocates that more time be spent attending to collaborative teamwork practices such as being a learner, developing a shared framework, clarifying roles, building consensus and involving families and teachers. It encourages the interaction of the students and teachers in natural ways to ensure that the students with disabilities receive an appropriate and meaningful education as the primary goal (Giangreco, 2000).

In 1995, Prelock from the University of Vermont provided a speech-language therapists' perspective regarding collaboration. Prelock suggested that collaboration be

perceived as an interaction among individuals who work toward a common goal. This may help develop trust and respect for what others can provide during the collaboration process. The process is very important, but the people who are involved determine the dynamics and success of what occurs.

As early as 1992, the School District of Philadelphia advocated an integrative approach to providing services to students identified with speech and language disabilities. Farber, Denenberg, Klyman, and Lachman (1992) examined an approach for providing an intensive level of language treatment which combined the traditional pull-out method with instruction received in the classroom. The speech-language therapists assumed the role of co-teacher, consultant, and direct treatment provider. The approach proved to be successful for increasing the level of support provided to students with speech-language disabilities.

The American Speech-Language-Hearing Association Ad Hoc Committee on Inclusion for Student with Communication Disorders (1990) proposed that collaborative service delivery could augment traditional methods and further support curriculum content for serving students with language-learning disorders. They advocated the development of a trans-disciplinary team consisting of the speech-language therapists, educators, the parents, and the student. All team members knew the student's entire curriculum, and team members shared responsibility for specific educational goals. Most special services, as well as regular instruction, took place within the classroom.

Administrative support and cooperation among team members were cited as crucial elements necessary for success.

In an effort to fill an increasing demand for models that incorporated team decision-making, and participation, Blosser and Kratcoski (1997) provided a framework to help speech-language therapists determine an appropriate service delivery option for their students. It encouraged speech-language therapists and their colleagues to consider the unique combination of providers, activities and contexts necessary to meet the specific needs of each individual with a communication disorder. A collaborative team approach provides an efficient way to foster positive outcomes for children with language impairments (Kaczmarek, Pennington, & Goldstein, 2000; Moore-Brown & Montgomery, 2001). A collaborative approach targets communication goals and language-based academic goals. Speech-language therapists can use curriculum content during intervention to reinforce classroom instruction, whereas teachers can reinforce communication goals in daily activities (Silliman, Ford, Beasman, & Evans, 1999). For example, providing collaborative interventions can help children improve their peer interactions, which in turn enhances their peers' perceptions of communicative competence, leading to more opportunities for interaction (Goldstein, English, Sharer, & Kaczmarek, 1997). Thus, collaboration between regular education classroom teachers and speech-language therapists can provide positive benefits for children with language impairments in both routine communicative events and academic achievement.

Ellis, Schlaudecker and Regimbal (1995) conducted a study with kindergarten children in which a speech-language therapist, university faculty, a classroom teacher, and a physical education teacher collaborated to deliver basic language concept instruction. Children in the experimental group demonstrated significantly higher performance on target language concepts than a control group that received the regular

education program. The success of this collaborative model had broad implications related to the changing role of the speech-language therapist. Providing services through collaboration allows the speech-language therapist to use time more efficiently. As teachers are taught to integrate language into their curriculum, the speech-language therapist will reach more children without directly being in the classroom.

A study conducted by Hadley, Simmerman, Long and Luna (2000) explored the effectiveness of a collaborative classroom-based model in enhancing the development of vocabulary, and phonological awareness skills for kindergarten and first grade children in an inner city school district. In two classrooms, a speech-language therapist taught two and one half days per week. The speech-language therapist and the regular education teachers engaged in joint curriculum planning on a weekly basis. They embedded vocabulary and phonological awareness instruction into the ongoing curricular activities. They planned explicit instruction in phonological awareness for a 25-minute small group activity center weekly. After six months, superior gains occurred in receptive vocabulary, expressive vocabulary, beginning sound awareness, and letter-sound associations for children in the two classrooms. The results indicate the positive benefits of collaboration in facilitating the language abilities of inner-city children who are at risk for academic difficulties in the early elementary grades.

Similarly in a study conducted by Calvert & Thorneburg (2003) students who received services through a collaborative model made significantly more progress with speech sound production, although they received approximately half as much practice of their target sounds during classroom based instruction compared to pull-out intervention with the speech-language therapist. Greater progress may have resulted because of better

generalization and because peers and teachers observed the type of cues and positive feedback the speech-language therapist used for articulation errors. They also reported giving the children with articulation impairments reminders or practice throughout the week.

Studies comparing collaborative intervention with control classes also showed positive results using a collaborative model of service delivery. Kaufman, Prelock, Weiler, Creaghead and Donnelly (1994) compared two third-grade classrooms to determine if classroom collaboration between a regular education classroom teacher and a speech-language therapist would improve students' abilities to provide verbal explanations during math instruction. Pre- and post-program testing of both experimental and control classes revealed that children receiving collaboratively taught lessons improved their ability to use language to express how to solve a problem. Students in the control group did not improve in this area. Additionally, the teacher of the third-grade class felt that students questioning and problem-solving skills improved.

Because teachers have access to students most of the day they can seize opportunities to provide ongoing assessment and feedback for speech-languag therapists. They can facilitate generalization of students' target skills, and strategies. When alliances are developed between educators with different domains of expertise, each can accomplish more than either could individually, and students benefit (Santos, 2002).

The Challenges of Collaborating and Overcoming Challenges to Collaborating

Even though the success of collaborative efforts has been documented, there are challenges that need to be acknowledged and considered for successful collaboration to occur. In 1991 the American Speech-Language-Hearing Association (ASHA) stated

no one professional has a sufficient knowledge base or expertise to carry out all the functions associated with providing educational services for students. As a result of this belief, ASHA proposed a collaborative service model for students with language-learning disorders in public schools. However, when a range of professionals from different disciplines try to work together, problems can arise due to limited information about each other's specific skills, knowledge and intervention strategies (Norwich, 1990).

When many teachers collaborate, differences can emerge and they run headlong into conflicts over professional beliefs and practices (Achinstein, 2002; Friend & Cook, 1992). These conflicts are a natural reaction. Many teachers feel uncomfortable with conflict; may find it awkward and prefer to avoid tackling issues instead of participating in a conflict (Friend & Cook, 1992). However, conflict may also provide a benefit because conflict indicates that professionals are sharing real ideas with conviction. Furthermore, management of the conflicts may define the classroom borders and encourage organizational learning and change (Achinstein, 2002; Friend & Cook, 1992).

In the Dallas Independent School District, Achilles, Yates and Freese (1991) pointed out that the most significant obstacles encountered when trying to implement collaborative efforts were administrative support, joint staff development training and shared accountability for implementing language goals into the general education classroom curriculum. Roller, Rodriques, Warner and Lindahl (1992) also identified ownership along with flexibility and openness to new ideas as a challenge of collaborating. The researchers further pointed out the importance of both administrative and parental support. Cook and Friend (1990) and Friend and Cook (1992) also explained that administrators who want to foster teacher collaboration need to devote considerable

attention to this matter. The traditional culture of schools has rewarded teachers who were content with working alone and receiving few benefits and little input from others. Consequently, teachers who are comfortable with traditional schools may find collaboration frightening. They may fear that they do not have a significant contribution to make; they may be concerned that the personal cost in terms of time is too great; or they may worry that others will evaluate their skills

Studies conducted by Cook and Friend (1991); Idol and West (1991); and Redditt (1991) identified time as a primary barrier to collaboration. In some schools, significant time was taken away from pupil instruction because collaboration became so important. In other schools, the lack of adequate time to collaborate led to hasty problem solving and unsuccessful quick fix ideas. In yet other schools, the absence of time prevented teachers from employing many of the more sophisticated collaboration approaches available. The work of Ireson (1992) further suggested that if collaboration occurs, 'simply because two teachers are timetabled to work together,' it places unrealistic expectations on the staff involved and devalues the collaborative process.

Elksnin and Capilouto (1994) surveyed speech-language therapists about integrated service delivery. The results of this study underscored the need to address possible barriers such as scheduling, resource allocation, the provision of adequate planning time and the need for in-service training to enable them to work effectively in a classroom. These are issues that must be discussed and negotiated by speech-language therapists and classroom teachers as they work with school administrators to plan collaborative service delivery. Generating administrative support for adequate and

appropriate planning time is a critical first step to implementing collaboration (American Speech-Language-Hearing Association, 1991b).

Trust, open communication, and shared goals foster collaboration and teamwork. Individuals feel committed to organizations that embrace their values (O'Malley, 2000); thus, when a team-oriented individual reports a strong commitment to the organization, an organized collaborative culture usually exists. Because a correlation exists between collaborative environments and positive student and professional outcomes, schools should attempt to create environments where collaboration can thrive.

Lacey and Lomas (1993) suggest that in addition to therapy and education-based knowledge and skills, teachers must address personality and attitude-based skills. These authors suggest that some of the skills required for collaboration can be taught while others are innate. In addition to being specialists, team members must feel willing to collaborate and accept of the role of learner. Star and Lacey (1996) further suggested that collaboration requires mutual respect for each individual's skill set and contributions.

Professional Development of Speech-Language Therapists

Past Professional Preparation of Speech-Language Therapists

Different levels of professional development and quality teacher preparation positively influences teacher self-efficacy beliefs (Hall, Burley, Villeme, & Brockmeier, 1992; Ross, 1994), thus making it more likely these individuals will have the confidence to work in collaboration with other colleagues (Smylie, 1988; Tschannen-Moran, Woolfolk-Hoy & Hoy, 1998). Self-efficacy develops more easily in the early years of learning (Bandura, 1977) and some of the most powerful influences on the development of teacher self-efficacy take place during student teaching through mastery experiences

(Bandura, 1986; Woolfolk-Hoy, 2000). Given this, it is important to understand and appreciate the shifts in professional development and preparation for speech-language therapists.

While public schools offered speech services in the early 1900s, no official professional development programs came into operation until the 1930s. In 1916, the University of Illinois offered the first courses in speech science. These courses included phonology, phonetics, psychology of audition, physics of sound, and physiology of the voice. In 1923 the University of Wisconsin catalog listed a course in the correction of speech disorders. By the mid-1930s four universities - Illinois, Iowa, Michigan and Wisconsin - offered courses in speech therapy. The beginning of the growth of a profession concerned with disorders of communication began in the late 1930s and early 1940s. The period of greatest growth due to national and state legislative funding occurred between 1950 and 1960.

Present Professional Preparation of Speech-Language Therapists

The United States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics (2008) reports most speech-language therapists' jobs require a master's degree. In 2007 more than 230 colleges and universities offered graduate programs in speech-language pathology. Fourteen of those universities are in Pennsylvania. Courses offered by these colleges and universities cover anatomy, physiology, and the development of the areas of the body involved in speech, language, and swallowing; the nature of disorders; principles of acoustics; and the psychological aspects of communication. Graduate students also learn to evaluate and treat speech, language, and swallowing disorders and receive supervised clinical training in communication disorders. Training provided by colleges and

universities in Pennsylvania was of interest to the researcher because this study was limited to speech-language therapists working in the schools in Pennsylvania.

In 2007, 47 states regulated speech-language jobs through licensure or registration. Forty-one states have continuing education requirements for licensure renewal and only 12 of the 41 states require this same license to practice in the public schools. The other states issue a teaching license or certificate that typically requires a master's degree from an approved college or university. A few states grant a full teacher's certificate or license to bachelor's degree applicants. Currently, Pennsylvania requires speech-language therapists to hold a valid professional certificate in the area of speech and language impaired. Although the Pennsylvania Department of Education does not require speech-language therapists working the in schools to have a master's degree, colleges and universities in Pennsylvania accredited by the American Speech-Language-Hearing Association do not certify individuals in speech and language at the bachelor's level. Despite the advanced degree needed for certification as a speech-language therapist to practice in the schools in Pennsylvania, course work on collaboration is not required from any of the 14 colleges and universities in Pennsylvania (Retrieved April 14, 2011, from the college and university websites).

Maintenance of Professional Credentials in Pennsylvania

In Pennsylvania, the Speech-Language and Hearing Licensure Act safeguards the public from unprofessional conduct on the part of qualified speech-language pathologists and assures the availability of the highest possible quality of speech and language services to individuals identified with communication disorders in the Commonwealth. The Licensure Act requires the completion of 20 clock hours of continuing education in

order to maintain licensure for speech-language professions under the Act (Section 5(5) of Act 238 of 1984). Any courses or programs that are approved or sponsored for continuing education by the American Speech-Language-Hearing Association (ASHA) or approved by the Board (Section 45.505(d)) will qualify an individual for maintenance of a current license.

Pennsylvania's continuing professional education law, Act 48-1999, requires all education professionals to complete 180 hours of professional development every five years relates to an area of the professional educator's assignment or certification. The 180 hour requirement can be met with six college credits, six credits of continuing professional education courses, 180 clock hours of continuing professional education, or any combination of collegiate studies, continuing professional education courses or other programs, activities or learning experiences equivalent to 180 hours. All Act 48 professional development must align to the specific needs of the students whom the educator serves. Professional development must be research based and it must be part of an approved plan for building educators' skills over time. Pennsylvania's professional development law, Act 48 of 1999, does include mandatory requirements for certified educational professionals to receive training in collaboration.

The American Speech-Language-Hearing Association (ASHA) 2005 Standards and Implementation Procedures for the Certificate of Clinical Competence (CCC) in Speech-Language Pathology became mandatory for all speech-language pathology applicants whose applications for certification were received by January 1, 2006. The applicant for certification in speech-language pathology must complete a minimum of 400 clock hours of supervised clinical experience in the practice of speech-language

pathology. He/she must spend twenty-five hours in clinical observation and 375 hours must be spent in direct client/patient/student contact. Individuals who hold their CCC in Speech-Language Pathology must accumulate 30 contact hours of professional development over a three year period in order to meet this standard. This must repeat every three years or the Certificate of Clinical Competency will lapse. While ASHA requires the accumulation of three Continuing Education Units (CEUs) or 30 contact hours, it does not require specific content.

Summary

The delivery of speech-language therapy services is multi-dimensional involving self-efficacy, knowledge and skills in collaboration. The collaborative model can increase the likelihood that students identified with speech-language disorders receive the support they need to succeed in the general education classroom. Collaborative service delivery bridges the gap created by traditional or pull-out speech-language therapy and the communication demands in the classrooms of today. A collaborative service delivery model promotes use of relevant content from the student's curriculum for therapy, enhances student involvement in the therapy process, and provides the opportunity for inter-professional growth (Magnotta, 1991). Prelock, Miller, and Reed (1995) concluded that teachers and speech-language therapists should receive collaborative in-service training. Teacher-speech-language therapist partnerships improve when both individuals participate in workshops integrating communication and regular education issues and have opportunities to discuss and apply this information in their instructional environment.

Researchers equate teacher effectiveness in co-taught and collaborative classrooms with teachers' content knowledge and task specific expertise. Teacher self-efficacy, a content, task-specific construct, has been linked to teacher performance and student outcomes (Bandura, 1997; Tschannen-Moran, Woolfolk-Hoy and Hoy, 1998). Research suggests that teacher self-efficacy provides a powerful construct in the educational process (Shahid & Thompson, 2001). Furthermore, research-based evidence suggests that the development of the existing levels of teacher self-efficacy beliefs influence many variables of teaching practices in collaborative education environments (Hastings & Oakford, 2003).

According to Pajares (1997) and Bandura (1997), although skills are necessary, an individual's beliefs regarding his/her skills have a greater impact on determining behavior than actual skills. A strong sense of efficacy should increase teachers' accomplishments and attitudes towards collaborative environments. Teachers with high confidence in their abilities view difficult tasks as challenges to be accomplished, not avoided (Bandura, 1986, 2001). Therefore, researchers must examine the construct of speech-language therapists' self-efficacy beliefs about training in collaboration.

Teacher self-efficacy beliefs powerfully affect many aspects of teacher behavior and practices (Bandura, 1986). Information that leads to a better understanding of the current training speech-language therapists receive in collaboration and self-efficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists, in regards to their ability, knowledge and skills to collaborate with regular education teachers, will raise and enhance awareness of what specifically should be included in future pre-service and in-service professional development programs.

Chapter three will discuss the research methods and procedures that led to a better understanding of the self-efficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists in regard to their ability to collaborate with regular education teachers. Chapter three discusses the participants, design and the setting of the study; the data gathering instruments; the pilot study conducted on the data gathering instruments; the data collection and data analysis procedures; assumptions and limitations of the study; and concludes with a summary section.

CHAPTER III

METHODS AND PROCEDURES

Introduction

This study investigated the self-efficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists regarding their ability to collaborate with regular education classroom teachers. This initial investigation of the self-efficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists regarding their ability to collaborate with regular education teachers, involved only speech-language therapists working in Pennsylvania. A mixed method case study was designed to investigate: the self-efficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists regarding their skills to collaborate with regular education classroom teachers and what additional preparation, if any, did speech-language therapists believe they need in collaboration to work with regular education teachers.

By combining quantitative and qualitative approaches within the same inquiry, this researcher was able to probe further into the dataset obtained in order to understand its meaning while using one method to verify findings stemming from the other method. This fundamental principal and strength of a mixed method study is supported by the work of Johnson and Turner (2003) and Onwuegbuzie and Teddlie (2003). Noted by the work of Newman, Ridenour, Newman and DeMarco (2003) and the work of Greene, Caracelli and Graham (1998) the purpose of conducting mixed-methodological studies support: (a) triangulation by seeking convergence and corroboration of findings from different methods that study the same phenomenon; (b) seeking enrichment, illustration, elaboration and clarification of the findings from one method with results from the other method; (c) using the findings from one method to help inform the other method; (d)

seeking to expand the breadth and range of inquiry by using different methods for different inquiry components. A case study was appropriate because case studies are designed to reveal the details of the viewpoints of the participants by using multiple sources of data (Tellis, 1997). This mixed-method case study incorporated the use of surveys and interviews.

This chapter describes the methods and procedures used in the study including the survey respondents and interview participants in the study, the settings of the study, the data sources and the pilot study to establish their validity; the data collection and analysis procedures; followed by the assumptions and limitations of the study.

Surveys and Interviews

Surveys followed by interviews were used to uncover information about speech-language therapists' self-efficacy beliefs regarding their skills to collaborate with regular education teachers. Since the initial phase of this research was to learn about the distribution of characteristics, attitudes, and beliefs from a large homogeneous group of people (speech-language therapists working in educational settings in Pennsylvania) and to describe the various responses of the individuals in the study, a survey was deemed the appropriate mode of inquiry (Marshall & Rossman, 2006). Interviews were used to gain a deeper understanding of the information gathered in the surveys.

To discover and describe multiple views of a case, the interview is the best tool (Stake, 1995). Semi-structured interviews allowed the researcher to gather in-depth information about individual speech-language therapists' beliefs regarding their skills to collaborate with regular education teachers. The interviews enabled the researcher to gain information not accessible through surveys such as beliefs, perceptions, attitudes and

values. Hitchcock and Hughes (1989) describe semi-structured interviews as one way to obtain more in-depth information. They provided the opportunity on the part

of the interviewer to probe and expand the interviewee's responses. . . . Some kind of balance between the interviewer and the interviewee can develop which can provide room for negotiation, discussion, and expansion of the interviewee's responses (Hitchcock & Hughes, 1989, p. 83).

In the semi-structured interviews, the interviewer was in control of the process of obtaining information from the interviewee, but freely followed new leads as they arose (Bernard, 1988). The speech-language therapists' rich responses provided in-depth information to the researcher regarding self-efficacy beliefs about their ability to work in collaboration with regular education classroom teachers which complemented information from the surveys.

Respondents and Participants

The respondents surveyed and participants interviewed were selected from speech-language therapists working in school districts in Pennsylvania.

Survey Respondents

The surveyed speech-language therapists were members of the Pennsylvania Speech-Language-Hearing Association (PSHA) who identified their primary work setting as "a school or school district" and had a published email address in the 2008 PSHA Membership and Resource Directory (n = 343). The PSHA Membership and Resource Directory was used because the researcher was interested in a purposeful sample and this resource provided access to this population.

An accessible and purposeful sample was used for this study. Purposeful sampling is based on the assumption that the investigator wants to discover, understand, and gain insight and therefore must select a sample from which the most can be learned (Patton, 1990). A purposeful sample was used because the researcher was exploring the self-efficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists regarding their pre-service and in-service preparation in the area of collaboration with regular education classroom teachers. The study did not investigate the professional preparation received by educators who were not speech-language therapists.

Interview Participants

The interview participants were a subset of the population who decided if they wanted to take part in the interview by voluntarily supplying their name and contact information on the last question of the Zoomerang survey. Survey respondents who were willing to be interviewed constituted the interview sample. Twenty-three survey respondents supplied their name and contact information indicating they were willing to participate in an interview. Eight of those individuals failed to respond to contacts made by the researcher, one individual rescinded the initial consent, and three individuals indicated they were too busy to participate in an interview. Interviews were conducted with 11 speech-language therapists currently working in schools in Pennsylvania using the interview instrument developed by the researcher.

Settings

Survey Setting

Participants were selected from across the state of Pennsylvania to participate in the surveys and the interviews. A letter introducing the survey (see Appendix B) was sent

electronically to invite speech-language therapists to participate in the study. This letter served to inform potential survey respondents of the researcher's study as well as request their participation. This letter explained that participation in this study was completely voluntary and had no affiliation with any school district or Pennsylvania system of higher education. Therefore, should the potential respondents choose not to participate, there would be no adverse consequences to them or their employment. With web-based surveys all respondents remain completely anonymous. Because this was an electronic survey, their participation in the survey also served as their consent for participation in the study. The introduction letter contained a web address that linked participants to a Zoomerang survey, a confidential, online survey authoring and tabulating tool with the capability to analyze results through descriptive statistics (Gunderloy, 2007). A Zoomerang survey was chosen because it is a confidential and user friendly tabulating tool with the capability to analyze results (Gunderloy, 2007). Zoomerang has the capacity to survey large number of respondents and the researcher was familiar with Zoomerang and had access to it. Kaplowitz, Hadlock and Levine (2004) recommended e-mail/webbased surveys in general over fax and mail surveys. This was appropriate for three reasons: first, web based methodology yields a higher response rate at less cost and more rapidly than mail surveys; second, educators have access to e-mail in the United States; finally, because web surveys code the data automatically, tabulation of data is fast and precise. Respondents answered the questionnaire at their convenience during the time allotted and at a time and location where they felt comfortable. All participants had one week to complete the survey. Results were electronically returned. The researcher

reviewed and collated the data from 164 of the 248 surveys that were electronically sent and received by the survey participants through Zoomerang.

Interview Setting

Speech-language therapists; working in schools; from north-east, south-east, central and south-west Pennsylvania were interviewed. One survey participant from north-west Pennsylvania expressed interest in being interviewed however this individual did not respond to any of the contacts made by the researcher to participate in the interview. The researcher contacted the self-identified interview participants by phone. Phone interviews were conducted due to the geographically dispersed participants. Although probing was more difficult because the interviewer was unable to see the respondent's face and body language, probing occurred based on vocal inflection, pauses and other verbal behavior exhibited by the participants.. An informed consent document for interview participants as prescribed by the Institutional Review Board for the Protection of Human Subjects guidelines (see Appendix D) was read to each participant prior to the interview. After obtaining a taped verbal consent from the individual to participate in the study, a telephone interview was conducted. The interview participant was instructed that any time and for any reason, the interview could be stopped and continued at a later date or permanently be stopped. Each interview participant was made aware of the fact that the questions did not encourage any specific type of response. Also, any unclear question could be clarified. A speaker phone allowed the researcher to take notes and tape record responses during the interview.

Data Gathering Instruments and Pilot Study

A five-part survey instrument (see Appendix C) gathered information from a sample size of (N = 164) speech-language therapists in Pennsylvania to reveal the self-efficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists regarding their perceived skills to collaborate with regular education classroom teachers. A five-part interview instrument (see Appendix D) gathered more in-depth information from the self-selected sample (N = 11) of speech-language therapists who had participated in the survey.

Survey Instrument

Close ended survey questions required the participants to select a response from a field of options and five-point Likert type responses.

Part I of the survey instrument (see Appendix C) consisted of eight questions that sought demographic information. The demographic data provided the basis for analyzing the variables of employment, experience, education, certifications and licensure. Data was not collected on gender because females dominate the field of speech-language pathology. The number of male constituents of the American Speech-Language-Hearing Association (ASHA) has declined. According to ASHA, males comprised 8.3 percent of its membership in 1997, dropping to 6.5 percent by the end of 2004. Currently 4.5 percent of speech-language therapists are men (ASHA, 2005).

Part II of the survey instrument consisted of six questions regarding the participants' pre-service education with a focus on collaboration: the highest degree obtained in speech-language pathology and date received, the courses taken that were on collaboration that were entirely or partially devoted to collaboration, the courses in other areas that addressed collaboration, the approximate amount of time spent discussing

collaboration, and the participants' experiences working in collaborative settings during any clinical, practicums' and/or student teaching experiences. Questions in Part II of the survey revealed the perceived impact, if any, of course work, types of course work, and experience to gain mastery skills that may have on participants' self-efficacy development (Bandura, 1986; Plourde, 2002; Schunk, 1981, 1983, 1989; Zeldin & Pajares, 1997; Moore-Esselman, 1992; Ross, 1994; Henson, 2001).

Part III of the survey instrument consisted of six questions that addressed the participants' continuing education also focusing on collaboration. These questions provided the basis for gathering and analyzing information regarding sources of continuing education, reasons for participating in continuing education activities, continuing education activities perceived to be most beneficial, and reasons for providing instruction in collaboration with regular education classroom teachers. The questions also revealed if the interviewees had experienced therapy/instruction in a collaborative classroom with a regular education classroom teacher as part of their current or past employment situation that may count as professional development in this area. Questions in Part III of the survey helped to determine the perceived impact different levels of training and professional development had on participants' teacher self-efficacy beliefs (Ross, 1994).

Part IV of the survey contained three sections each with multiple questions that probed speech-language therapists about their beliefs regarding their skills and knowledge for working in a collaborative setting using the constructs of collaboration discussed in the literature review. Part IV of the survey also asked the participants to rate their perceptions regarding their self-efficacy beliefs and the skills they possess to

collaborate with regular education teachers. Question three in Part IV of the survey instrument was based on the constructs of self-efficacy beliefs and the challenges to collaboration which include knowledge of collaborative theories, practical experience, administrative support, support from regular education colleagues, and opportunities to collaborate with regular education colleagues.

Part V of the survey sought speech-language therapists to participate in a phone interview in order to obtain more in-depth information regarding their self-efficacy beliefs with regard to collaborative skills and training to work collaboratively with regular education classroom teachers. Table 1 summarizes the focus of each survey section.

Interview Instrument

A five-part interview instrument (see Appendix D) gathered in-depth information from speech-language therapists who chose to participate in the telephone interview. All questions asked in Part I, II and III of the interview instrument were reflective of the questions in the survey instrument.

Validity and Trustworthiness of the Study

It is important to determine if the results of this study are consistent with the data collected. To ensure that the results were dependable the researcher used respondent validation (Bryman, 1988) referred to as member checks by Lincoln and Guba (1995) and Stake (1995); triangulation (Fielding & Fielding, 1986) of multiple sources of evidences which included survey data, recorded interviews and a researcher journal to create an audit trail (Guba and Lincoln, 1981; Dey, 1993) which is an explanation of how the data was collected and how decisions were made throughout the inquiry. This study yielded a

high survey return rate of 66.1%. The interview sample was representative of the survey sample. Also, validity was established by the pilot study conducted on the survey and interview instruments.

Pilot Study of Survey and Interview Instruments

After an extensive review of the literature relating to self-efficacy beliefs and collaboration, survey and an interview instrument designed to reveal the self-efficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists regarding their skills to collaborate with regular education classroom teachers were developed by the researcher. Characteristics and descriptors that emerged from the work of many noted researchers (see Appendix E and F) provided the foundation for the survey and interview questions. Therefore, the survey was piloted to establish clarity and content validity through a series of validation procedures. Three supervisors of special education for speech-language support programs were asked to review each question in the survey instrument for relevance and clarity. In order to be a reviewer, each individual was required to have served as a supervisor of special education for a minimum of five years. This criterion was consistent with the criteria used for veteran teachers participating in a pilot study. Mosheim (2008) defined veteran teachers as teachers having at least five years of experience.

The participants of the pilot study determined if each question of the study was relevant and unambiguous, thus rendering the question acceptable or unacceptable. In order for a question to advance to the next phase of the validation test, two of the three supervisors determined whether or not the question was acceptable. If a question was deemed unacceptable by two or more of the supervisors, the question was removed and/or rewritten and the process was repeated.

Next, three experienced speech-language therapists, practicing in schools, evaluated the questions using the same review procedure as the supervisors. Each speech-language therapist was required to have served in the position as a speech-language therapist for a minimum of five years. Veteran teachers are defined as having at least five years of experience (Mosheim, 2008). The same standards used with the supervisors applied to the speech-language therapists. In order for a question to advance for final validation, two of the three speech-language therapists determined whether or not the question was acceptable. If a question was deemed unacceptable by two or more of the speech-language therapists, the question was removed and/or rewritten. Rewritten questions were validated by the supervisors prior to advancing back to the speech-language therapists' review phase.

The same pilot process used to clarify and validate the questions in the survey instrument also was used to clarify and validate questions in the interview instrument. The pilot process for the survey and interview instrument took three weeks. All three supervisor of special education for speech and language support programs and all three speech-language therapists, practicing in schools, found each question in the survey instrument and interview instrument to be acceptable. All individuals who participated in the pilot process were asked not to participate in the study.

Table 1
Survey Sections and Content

Survey	Survey Content
Sections	
Part I	Demographics: Type of position, years as a speech-language therapist,
	years of experience as a speech-language therapist, employment setting,
	years at current work site, licenses and certification held
Part II	Education: Highest degree held in speech-language pathology, year degree
	confirmed, number of courses taken entirely or partially on collaboration at
	the undergraduate and graduate level.
Part III	Continuing Education: Courses/workshops/trainings/lectures attended,
	reasons for attending continuing education activities, activities that were most
	beneficial, reasons for providing or not providing therapy/instruction in
	collaboration with a regular education classroom teacher.
Part IV	Perceived Skill and Knowledge: Beliefs regarding knowledge and skills of
	collaboration
Part V	Willingness to participate in an interview

Procedures

Data Collection

Dillman, Clark, and Sinclair (1995) suggested that multiple contacts with survey participants resulted in increased response rates. The work of Dillman (2000) also suggested that multiple contacts with survey participants resulted in increased response rates to Web surveys, with a prenotice contact having the strongest impact on response rate. After obtaining East Stroudsburg University's Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval regarding informed consent for human subjects a pre-contact letter followed by a cover letter was sent to the survey population (see Appendix A). An advance surface mail contact letter explaining the purpose of the study and encouraging individuals to participate in the survey was sent to PSHA members, who identified their work environment as schools, prior to any electronic communication being sent to the

participants. One week after the advance surface mail notification was sent, a cover letter outlining the study (see Appendix B) and encouraging the recipient to participate in the survey was sent electronically directly to the speech-language therapists. The cover letter contained a hyperlink allowing participants to directly access the electronic Zoomerang survey.

Surveys

Respondents were given one week to complete the web survey. They returned the surveys to the researcher electronically. With traditional survey methods multiple contacts improve response rates. Similarly, web-based survey response rates also increase with follow-up e-mail contacts (Kittleson, 1995; Smith & Leigh, 1997; Mehta & Sivadas, 1995; Isaac & Michael, 1990). The researcher sent follow-up emails at one week and two weeks after the initial sending of the web-based survey encouraging potential survey respondents to complete the electronic Zoomerang survey, if they have not already done so. Dillman (1978) recommended mail follow-up surveys should be sent at one, three, and seven weeks from the initial mailing date. Anderson and Gansneder (1995) believe that because of the much faster delivery speed of email, researchers should send a followup e-mail one week earlier than recommended for traditional mail surveys. A follow-up e-mail should be sent to survey respondents after one week. A second follow-up e-mail should follow after two weeks. No additional follow-up emails were sent by the researcher. Third or fourth follow-up e-mails have little effect according to Kittleson (1997) who noted that the second follow-up e-mail doubled the response rate but the third or fourth e-mails had only marginal effects on survey return rates. The process for data collection is presented in Table 2.

Table 2

Data Collection – Flow Chart

Week	Advance surface mail notification sent to speech-language therapists whose work setting is "a school or school district" as identified in the 2008 PSHA Directory.
1	
Week	Cover letter with link to the electronic Zoomerang survey sent to speech-
	language therapists.
2	
Week	Speech-language therapists return survey to the researcher, electronically.
3	
Week	Follow-up email sent to speech-language therapists encouraging them to
	complete the electronic Zoomerang survey, if they have not aleady done so.
4	
Week	Second follow-up email sent to speech-language therapists encouraging them to
	complete the electronic Zoomerang survey, if they have not already done so.
5	

Interviews

When individuals responded to the Zoomerang survey they indicated if they wanted to participate in an interview. If they chose to participate, the individual then completed the contact information section (see Appendix D). The researcher contacted the volunteer self-identified survey respondent by phone to thank the individual for his/her interest in participating in the interview and established a convenient time to conduct the interview.

The interviews were used to confirm aggregated input provided in the surveys and to gather in-depth information related to the survey questions. The adequacy of the exact number of interviews conducted was judged by the researcher based on the saturation of information obtained in each interview (Patton, 1990). Finding no surprising or atypical

responses, no new information and much informational redundancy (Lincoln & Guba, 1985), feeling comfortable that the theoretical categories have been saturated (Strauss & Corbin, 1990) and recognizing that there was sufficient information to create an intended product, the researcher conducted 11 phone interviews. A sample size of 10 is considered adequate for certain kinds of homogeneous sampling (Sandelowski, 1995).

Data Analysis

The purpose of the survey was to gather information regarding the self-efficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists' regarding their skills in collaboration to work with regular education teachers. The purpose of the individual interview was to gather indepth information to augment the responses on the survey.

Data Analysis of Surveys

Descriptive statistics (Leedy & Ormrod, 2001) were obtained from the Zoomerang survey to determine the actual number of individuals who participated, demographic information about the survey participants, and data supporting how individuals responded to the various questions asked. Overall response rate was 66.1%, with the researcher receiving 164 of the 258 individuals that received and accessed the web-based survey.

Using a five-point Likert-type scale (Likert, 1932; Maurer & Pierce, 1998; Maurer & Andrews, 2000), survey participants were asked to respond to questions regarding their perceived skills in and knowledge about collaboration along with preservice and in-service preparation they may have received (see Appendix C). Maurer and Pierce (1998) investigated the effectiveness of a Likert scale measure of self-efficacy for educational purposes. Their finding suggested that the Likert scale measures both

magnitude and confidence. They further concluded, based on reliability, predictive validity, and factor analysis data, that a Likert scale measure of self-efficacy is an acceptable measure. A Likert scale is an ordinal level of measurement. Ordinal scales permit the ranking of items or perceptions. Ordinal measures have no absolute values and the real differences between adjacent ranks may not be equal. Likert scales were used to measure the survey participant's beliefs. Although a five-point Likert scale allows an individual to take a neutral response, a five-point scale provides a greater range than a four-point scale thus creating a standard deviation with greater significance. The Likert-type response options for questions regarding the participants' perceived skill and knowledge in collaboration were strongly agree, agree, uncertain, disagree and strongly disagree.

Data Analysis of Interviews

Case studies involve a detailed description of the setting or individuals, along with analysis of the data for themes or issues (Stake, 1995; Wolcott, 1994). Merriam (1988) and Marshall and Rossman (1989) argue that data collection and data analysis must occur simultaneously in qualitative research. Rossman and Rallis (1998) contend that qualitative data analysis entails gathering data, analyzing data, representing the data, and making an interpretation of the larger meaning of the data. Throughout the data analysis process, researchers code their data using categories (Jacob, 1988).

Electronically recorded interviews were transcribed. During the data analysis process, the data was organized into categories and repeatedly reviewed and coded. Ideas that surfaced were recorded as suggested by Merriam (1988). Field notes were regularly reviewed to reveal the information, patterns and themes that emerged and their

underlying meaning. Table 3 portrays the data analysis process for information gathered through interviews.

Table 3

Data Analysis of Interviews

Step 1 *Gathered, organized and prepared* the data for analysis. All interviews were transcribed, field notes were typed.

Step 2 All data was read and re-read to obtain a *general sense* of the information and to reflect on its overall meaning. Notes were made, thoughts were recorded about the data and sorted and arranged by emerging themes.

Step 3 Began detailed analysis with a coding process. *Coding* is the process of organizaing the material into "chunks" before assigning meaning to those "chunks" of information (Rossman & Rallis, 1998, p. 171). Detailed guidance for the coding process set forth by Tesch (1990, pp. 142-145) was used to guide the coding process:

- a. Data was reviewed again. Topics were coded into categories.
- b. Data was assembled into categories and analysis continued.
- c. New categories were identified as appropriate as the analysis ensued.

Step 4 Narrative passages were used to report the findings of the analysis. These narratives detailed the themes, multiple perspectives from individuals, and quotations from the participants.

Step 5 Making an interpretation or meaning of the data. "What were the lessons learned" captures the essence of this idea (Lincoln & Guba, 1985).

During the data collection and analysis two strategies established credibility and trustworthiness: (a) respondent validation (Bryman, 1988) referred to as member checks by Lincoln and Guba (1985) and Stake (1995) involving verbal feedback from the participants within and at the conclusion of each interview and (b) triangulation of multiple sources of evidences which included survey data, recorded interviews and a researcher journal to create an audit trail.

When not being used for analysis the completed surveys, interviews and analysis of the surveys and interviews were kept in a locked filing cabinet. All participants remained anonymous. The names of all participants were deleted from documents and replaced by numeric codes. All identifying information such as years of service, school settings, type of employment, etc. were deleted, disguised, or reported in the aggregate to protect the confidentiality of the participant. The researcher was the only person with access to the identities of the research participants. All data collected will remain in locked files in the researcher's home for a minimum of three years to comply with federal regulations.

Assumptions and Limitations of the Study

Limitations exist with the design of this study and must be considered with interpreting and placing value on the results obtained.

Participants and Research Topic

This was the researcher's initial investigation into understanding the self-efficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists regarding their skills in collaboration to work with regular education classroom teachers and to understand what additional preparation, if any, speech-language therapists believe they need in collaboration to work with regular education teachers. As a result of this being an initial investigation, this study was restricted to speech-language therapists working in Pennsylvania. If this study was conducted with speech-language therapists across the United States the results may be different. Also, the researcher only had access to speech-language therapists who were members of the Pennsylvania Speech-Language-Hearing Association (PSHA) working in schools with published email addresses listed in the PSHA directory (n-343). All of the

email addresses were not current and did not reach the intended recipients or the intended recipient was not currently working in the schools in Pennsylvania. Although the researcher did not know exactly how many speech-language therapists working in schools in Pennsylvania were not current members of PSHA at the time the study was conducted, what was known from the personal knowledge of the researcher's staff and the staff under the direction from colleagues of the researcher was all of the speechlanguage therapists that were working in schools at the time of this study were not members of PSHA; thus all speech-language therapists working in schools in Pennsylvania were not able to be included in this study. This may have impacted the results of this study. As there may be a difference in the type and amount of in-service preparation in collaboration and/or self-efficacy beliefs of individuals who choose to get involved in their professional organizations compared to individuals who do not choose to get involved in their professional organizations. However the bias that may exist in the data that the survey yielded was minimized by the high survey return rate of 66.1% (164 of 258).

One survey participant from north-west Pennsylvania expressed interest in being interviewed however this individual did not respond to any of the contacts made by the researcher to participate in the interview. As a result, information from interview respondents from all geographical areas of Pennsylvania was not represented in this study. It cannot be assumed that individuals from all geographical areas of Pennsylvania would respond the same way.

While many factors affect the self-efficacy beliefs of teachers regarding their abilities in collaboration, this study focused on speech-language therapists' self-efficacy

beliefs about classroom collaboration with regular education classroom teachers. All survey respondents were self-volunteered and all interview participants were self-volunteered and self-identified. Thus, it cannot be ignored that only speech-language therapists with an interest in collaboration may have responded to the survey and self-volunteered to participate in the interview. As previously stated there may be a correlation between individuals with high self-efficacy, individuals who sought out professional development and individuals who chose to participant in the survey and who chose to be interviewed. Speech-language therapists without a true interest in collaboration may have opted not to respond. For example, speech-language therapists who chose not to respond may have had no pre-service or in-service training and/or experience in collaboration. As a result these speech-language therapists may have weaker self-efficacy beliefs regarding their ability to collaborate with regular education teachers. However these potential correlations were not explored in this study.

Cook and Campbell (1979) have pointed out that subjects (a) tend to report what they believe the researcher expects to see, or (b) report what reflects positively on their own abilities, knowledge, beliefs, or opinions. The nature of the questions in this study required the respondents and participants to recall courses taken during undergraduate and graduate programs; the number of courses they had taken, entirely or partially, on collaboration; and in the courses that addressed collaboration as a course component and approximately how much time was spent discussing the topic of collaboration. Concerns about such data centers on whether the respondents and the participants were able to accurately recall this information. Human memory is fallible (Schacter, 1999) and thus

the reliability of self-reported data can be tenuous. Another concern about such data centers on whether subjects are able to accurately recall past behaviors. .

Researcher Bias and Reactivity

The researcher brings 26 years of experience as a speech-language therapist and a special education supervisor to this study. Experience as a speech-language therapist and special education supervisor enhances the researcher's awareness, knowledge and sensitivity to the role of professional preparation and challenges faced by speechlanguage therapists. However, due to these experiences, certain biases may occur in a study. While professional and intellectual curiosity is one reason a researcher may choose to investigate a particular topic, personal beliefs can influence the choice of a research topic. The selection of data that fit the researcher's existing theory or preconceptions and the selection of data that "stand out" to the researcher (Miles & Huberman, 1994, p. 263; Shweder, 1980) can threaten the validity of qualitative conclusion. Therefore, to ensure the integrity of the study and the validity of the researcher's account, the researcher used field notes, the interviewee's responses, and respondent validation or member checking. Being cognizant of the possibility of biases, the researcher used member checking to help guard against any biases or expectations the researcher may have. This was accomplished by capturing what the respondents said and then soliciting verbal feedback from the interviewees about the data collected and conclusions made during the interviews.

Reactivity

Eliminating the influence of "reactivity," the effect of the researcher on the individuals in the study (Maxwell, 2005), is difficult because the data analysis and what the interviewee says is influenced by the interviewer and the interview situation

(Hammersley & Atkinson, 1995). Therefore, the researcher asked questions during the interview in order to clarify and ensure accurate collection and reporting of the interviewees' responses.

Summary

The mixed-method case study as defined and outlined in this chapter enabled the researcher to gather significant data to be reviewed and analyzed. The question of internal validity or the extent to which research findings were congruent with reality, was addressed by using respondent validation (Bryman, 1988) referred to as member checks by Lincoln and Guba (1995) and Stake (1995); triangulation (Fielding & Fielding, 1986) of multiple sources of evidences which included survey data, and recorded interviews. Reliability, the extent to which there was consistency in the findings, was enhanced by the researcher explaining the assumptions, by triangulating data (Fielding & Fielding, 1986) and by leaving an audit trail (Guba and Lincoln, 1981; Dey, 1993) that is by describing in detail how the study was conducted and how the findings were derived from the data. Chapter four will provide the findings of the methodologies performed in this study based on the themes and categories that were generated.

CHAPTER IV

FINDINGS

Introduction

Using a mixed method case study approach and using a sample of speech-language therapists working in schools in Pennsylvania, this study investigated the self-efficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists regarding their ability to collaborate with regular education classroom teachers. Demographic information, information on preservice and in-service training along with the perceptions of speech-language therapists who participated in the study in reference to any training received along with their beliefs regarding knowledge and skills of collaboration have been obtained through an electronic Zoomerang survey (see Appendix C). A total of 164 surveys were completed and returned, for an overall return rate of 66.1%.

Eleven of the speech-language therapists from different parts of Pennsylvania self-volunteered to participate in a semi-structured interview (see appendix D). Speech-language therapists; working in schools; from Northeast (N = 3), Southeast (N = 3), Central (N = 3) and Southwest (N=2) Pennsylvania were interviewed. One survey participant from north-west Pennsylvania expressed interest in being interviewed however this individual did not respond to any of the contacts made by the researcher to participate in the interview. The audio recorded and transcribed interviews revealed information not accessible through the survey such as beliefs, perceptions, attitudes and values. Field notes were regularly reviewed for patterns and themes that were emerging, and their underlying meaning. Interview data was organized into chunks of information,

sorted, repeatedly reviewed, arranged into categories and coded into themes or units of meaning.

The chunks of information from the survey and interview were collapsed into 10 categories related to self-efficacy and eight categories related to collaboration. Categories initially generated were: perceived capabilities of self, belief in one's skills, social comparison and models, personal accomplishments, social skills, assertiveness, school climate related to classroom practices and teachers' collegiality, different levels of training and professional development, teacher self-efficacy beliefs that affect interaction with students and other professionals. These 10 categories became four themes related to teacher self-efficacy toward their skills to collaborate with regular education classroom teachers. The themes were (a) perceived self-efficacy; (b) sources of self-efficacy development; (c) influences of self-efficacy beliefs; and (d) development of teacher self-efficacy beliefs. The data was used to address the research questions posed in the study by the researcher (see Table 4).

Table 4

Categories and Themes Related to Self-efficacy Beliefs of Speech-Language Therapists Regarding their Skills to Collaborate with Regular Education Classroom Teachers

Categories Related Self-Efficacy Beliefs	Themes Related to Self-Efficacy Beliefs
Perceived capabilities of self/beliefs in	Perceived Self-Efficacy
one's skills	
Belief in one's academic capabilities as a	
result of course work and filed experience	
Vicarious experiences/social comparison	Sources of Self-Efficacy Development
and models	
Strong predictors of personal	Influences of Self-Efficacy Beliefs
accomplishments	
Linked to social skills	
Linked to assertiveness	
School climate related positively and	Development of Teachers Self-Efficacy
negatively to classroom practices and	Beliefs
teachers' collegiality	
Teaching efficacy influenced by different	
levels of professional development	
Professional development opportunities	
Teacher efficacy beliefs affect interaction	
with other professionals	

The chunks of information were also collapsed into eight categories related to skills of collaboration. Categories generated were openness to new ideas, support from supervisors, shared planning time, increased professional knowledge base, shared space, jointly shared success and failures of student learning, goals developed and agreed upon by the teacher and the speech-language therapist and the recognition of the contribution of others. These seven categories became six themes related to skills of collaboration. The themes were (a) flexibility; (b) administrative support; (c) shared resources; (d) shared accountability for outcomes; (e) mutual and shared goals; and (f) parity (see Table 5).

Table 5

Categories and Themes of Collaboration Speech-Language Therapists Feel they Need Regarding Working with Regular Education Classroom Teachers

Categories Related Skills of Collaboration	Themes Related to Skills of Collaboration
Openness to new ideas	Flexibility
Support from immediate supervisors and principals	Administrative Support
Shared planning time	Shared Resources
Increased professional knowledge base	
Shared space	
Jointly share success and failures of student learning	Shared Accountability for Outcomes
Goals developed and agreed upon by the teacher and the speech-language therapist	Mutual and Shared Goals
Recognizes contributions of others	Parity

This chapter will examine the information obtained through the survey and interview data. Each research question and the analyses addressing it are presented below.

Research Questions and Findings

Research Question #1: What are the Self-efficacy Beliefs of Speech-Language Therapists

Regarding their Skills to Collaborate with Regular Education Classroom Teachers?

The information that emerged from the 164 surveys and 11 interviews revealed that the speech-language therapists in the study held strong self-efficacy beliefs regarding their skills to collaborate with regular education classroom teachers.

Perceived Self-Efficacy Beliefs

Survey results revealed that 95.7% (157 of 164) of the survey respondents believe they possess a high level of confidence in their abilities as speech-language therapists and

89.6% (147 of 164) reported feeling competent to collaborate. Interview participants 9 and 11 felt respected by the regular education classroom teachers. Both participants reported having 26 years of experience and confidence in their skills as a speechlanguage therapist to collaborate with regular education classroom teachers. Participant 11 stated, "I have laid a lot of ground work in my field. I have come to understand the classroom teacher's job better and they have come to understand my job better and really work together as equals." Recognizing the contributions of all team members (Star & Lacey, 1996; Rainforth, York & Macdonald, 1992), building mutual respect for all team members (Star & Lacey, 1996) and parity (Friend & Cook 2003; Ryndak & Alper, 1996) are important for collaboration. Participants 11, 3, 7, 2 all described how gaining increased professional knowledge about the regular education curriculum and language demands of the classroom have resulted in them have strong, positive beliefs regarding their skills to collaborate with regular education classroom teachers. Interview participant 7 stated, "When I graduated from college I knew nothing about the regular education curriculum. I have since learned a lot about the curriculum, what students need to know and be able to do to be successful and I feel very confident going into the classroom and working with the regular education teacher." Participant 3 echoed their comments saying, "I have been a speech-language therapist for 15 years. I understand the math and reading curriculum, the language being used and the vocabulary that is expected of the children and because of this I feel confident about working with the teacher and meeting the needs of the students."

However participant 8 reported having three years of experience as a speechlanguage therapist but only being at the current work site and working in a collaborative model for 1 year. This individual did not report positive or negative self-efficacy beliefs regarding skills to collaborate with regular education classroom teachers.

Sources of Self-Efficacy Development

The work of Schunk (1981, 1983, 1989) and Bandura (1986) found that social comparison and models are a significant and important source in the development of self-efficacy beliefs and flexibility is a critical component of collaboration (Roller, Rodriques, Warner & Lindahl, 1992). Participant 8 stated, "The model that is set up in our building consists of a lot of discussing and collaboration with the regular education teachers. These teachers are excellent, they really welcome new ideas. They are willing to try new things and they are not afraid to break out of what they have been doing in the past. Working with them has made me a better therapist and it is excellent for the students."

Influence of Self-Efficacy Beliefs

Another theme that emerged from the data was the influence of self-efficacy beliefs. Self-efficacy beliefs influence an individuals' self-regulation, motivation and the choices they make (Pajares, 1997; Herman, Meece, & McCombs, 2000). This construct has been linked to choices people make, personal accomplishments (Bandura, 1983, 1986), teaching behaviors (Pajares, 1996), social skills (Moe & Ziess, 1982) and assertiveness (Lee, 1983, 1984). Most of the survey respondents and the interview participants were "accomplished." When asked the highest degree they held in speech-language pathology 89.6% (147 of 164) of the survey respondents and 90.9% (10 of 11) of the interview participants disclosed having a Master's degree. The 11th interview participant held a Master's degree in special education. When asked what licenses and/or certifications were held, 61.5% (101 of 164) of the survey respondents and 90.9% (10 of

11) interview participants revealed having a Pennsylvania license as a speech-language therapist and ASHA Certificate of Clinical Competency in speech-language pathology. Participant 5 and 8 believed their ability to collaborate with regular education teachers was the result of being able to openly and honestly communicate about students and instructional strategies that were working and those that were not working, their openness and willingness to try new and different things and being clear about roles and holding each other accountable from everything to adapting materials, carrying out instruction to monitoring student outcomes. Participant 5 reported,

The teacher and I have complete respect for one another. When we collaborate it is a true partnership. When students aren't being successful, we brainstorm together. We both remain open and willing to try new things. We both deliver instruction and monitor student progress. The really great thing is we have a lot of support from the principal. Without all of this, collaboration wouldn't be successful.

Likewise, when these same themes of collaboration were not in place, interview participants expressed feelings of defeat. Participant 11 recalled, "I once had a principal who did not believe in collaboration. We weren't given time to co-plan. This made it very difficult to know what the students were working on and needed in the classroom. Many of the teachers in that building were not open minded and were not very flexible with me. Some were not willing to let me see their student at certain times. I just never completely felt good about what I was doing when I worked in that building."

Results from the survey indicate 71.3% (117 of 164) of the respondents engage in continuing education activities on collaboration because they are personally or

professional interested in collaborating. Also, 63.4% (104 of 164) of the survey respondents reported they provided therapy/instruction in collaboration with a regular education classroom teacher as part of their past or current employment situation because they and the classroom teacher choose to do so.

The interview participants responded in a like manner to the survey respondents.

Participant 5 detailed the importance of communication.

Everyone is very busy and the demands on teachers and educators are increasing every year. We have an IST team and I am a really big part of that. We have meetings to up-date each other. This happens on a monthly basis and there is constant emailing back and forth. I give every teacher that I work with a copy of the IEP goal pages and quarterly progress monitoring up-dates. They all know what the student in their class is working on. Then what they do with the information is up to their discretion. I have kids that are close to dismissal and I talk to the teachers about what they should expect within the classroom setting or their reading group with their sounds. We have such a great rapport that the teachers are coming to me to say what they did or what the student is struggling with and I am going to them and we still have the formalized meetings.

Participant 6 added, "I spend a lot of time educating the regular education teacher. A lot of it is to discuss specially designed instruction, talk about how students are doing in the classroom compared to the therapy room. I have a scheduler for anyone who wants to talk with me about something." Participant 9 acknowledged being the individual who advocates working in collaboration with the regular education teachers in the building. This individual recounted,

I am constantly emailing my principal reminding him the speech-language therapists and the regular education teachers need time to meet, attend trainings together, plan lessons, share ideas – not just on how we can better meet the needs of students on our caseload but also the needs of students with developmental delays that wouldn't necessarily qualify for speech-language therapy.

Participant 3 stated, "I don't like working as a separate entity. There is only so much you can do with a student in speech-language therapy. I need to focus very specifically on what is going to make students more successful in their classroom. In order to do that you need to know what is going on in their classroom and what their teacher is expecting of them. I am interested in collaboration so I can make my therapy valuable to the students."

Development of Teacher Self-Efficacy Beliefs

The development of teacher self-efficacy beliefs was the fourth and final theme to be identified in this study. The development of teacher self-efficacy beliefs are affected by school climate which is related positively and negatively to classroom practices and teachers' collegiality (Moore & Esselman, 1992). The development of teacher self-efficacy beliefs also affects interaction with students and other professionals (Smylie, 1988; Tschannen-Moran, Woolfolk-Hoy & Hoy, 1998). Table 6 reveals the results of information gathered through the survey questions that were designed to investigate the perceived skills and knowledge of speech-language therapists regarding collaboration. The results in Table 6 are presented from the highest to the lowest percentage of respondents that strongly agree or agree the survey questions.

Table 6

Data Results of Survey Questions – Perceived Skills and Knowledge Regarding Collaboration

Survey Statement	Percentage of
	Respondents that
	Strongly Agree or Agree
Collaboration requires shared responsibility for	98.7%(162 of 164)
participation and decision making.	
Collaborative teams need blocks of scheduled time for co-	98.1% (161 of 164)
planning.	
Collaborative teams need opportunities to define roles and	98.1% (161 of 164)
responsibilities.	
Collaboration requires mutual goals between participants	96.9% (158 of 164)
who collaborate.	
Collaboration requires shared resources, such as time,	96.9% (159 of 164)
expertise, space, instructional materials, information, and	
special techniques among participants who collaborate.	
Collaboration requires individuals to share accountability	93.2% (153 of 164)
for outcomes of their decisions.	
Teachers need structured opportunities to learn how to	91.4% (150 of 164)
collaborate.	
Collaboration requires equality among participants who	83.5% (137 of 164)
collaborate.	
Administrators and collaborative teams must meet on a	79.2% (130 of 164)
regular basis.	

Scheduled time to collaborate, jointly shared success and failures of student learning, shared resources, administrative support, and flexibility were cited by the individuals that were interviewed as things that supported collaboration with regular education colleagues. This finding corroborates Prelock, Miller and Reed (1995), who cited administrative support, collaborative in-service training, collaborative planning and implementation of lessons, and teams sharing the responsibility for making decisions in the delivery of services to children as key components for establishing collaborative partnerships in providing services to children with communication disorders. In 1997, Vaughn, Schumm, and Anguelles added that effective collaborative practices should

include shared ownership of the students and their academic progress, space, communication, classroom management and planning time. According to the framework of collaboration established by Friend and Cook (2003, 1992) collaborative teachers share mutual goals, resources, responsibility and have shared accountability.

When interview participants were asked to describe the nature of their interactions with regular education teachers all of them reported that they try to establish regular time to plan together. During co-planning time they discussed student needs, instructional strategies that were and were not resulting in student achievement, and how they could better support the teacher to help the student. Interview participant 4 stated, "We are given common time for team planning. The teachers are expected to be accountable for the students as are the therapists." Interview participant 7 recounted working in a building where the entire staff was trained in collaboration. This individual stated, "There was ownership on the part of everyone in the building. We all knew what was expected of us, we all had common expectations for the students, everyone was open-minded and we supported each other. I think that full building training was amazing. I still see teachers that were trained years ago and they still approach what they do in a collaborative manner." Interview participant 2 reported, "We are given time to go to conferences and teleconferences which has really added to everyone's knowledge base and that helps when you are collaborating. The team supports collaboration. The regular education teacher, reading specialists, IST teams share what we learn at conferences and we make materials." Interview participant 9 reported, "At my school we all have such a wealth of knowledge and we share it with each other. It is not like we know-it-all; we just give our input to help each other to help the child. We are all part of the team. I am really focusing

on the phonemic awareness component of the class when I am in the class co-teaching. So this year we will see how the collaboration went." Interview participant 6 remarked, "I spend a lot of time discussing specially designed instruction, showing the teachers what strategies can be used to increase student productions and language skills." Interview participant 10 added, "We discuss if the student is having difficulty or if we are not seeing progress; then we will discuss ways we can address them together." Interview participant 11 stated, "My principal encourages and supports us. He gives us time to collaborate. He's not only supportive of that but he encourages it. Collaboration at my school is also successful because the teachers I am collaborating with are very open minded and very flexible in working with me." Interview participant 8 added, "It seems to take people who are willing to try new things and not be afraid to break out of what they have been comfortable doing for years."

Research Question #2. What Additional Preparation, if any, Do Speech-Language

Therapists Believe they Need in Collaboration to Work with Regular Education

Teachers?

In addition to school climate and interactions with students and other professionals, Ross (1994) and Henson (2001) found that teaching self-efficacy appeared to be influenced by different levels of preparation and professional development. The survey respondents and interview participants had very limited exposure to undergraduate and graduate course work at the pre-service level that addressed collaboration (see Table 7). Although many of the speech-language therapists in the study did not take courses on collaboration and none of the interview participants took courses on collaboration; 93.9% (154 of 164) of the survey respondents and 100% (11 of 11) of the interview participants

participated in workshops, staff trainings and/or lectures on collaboration as part of inservice training since beginning their employment in the schools (see Table 8).

Table 7

Number of Courses Taken Entirely or Partially on Collaboration at the Undergraduate and Graduate Level for Survey Respondents and Interview Participants While Enrolled in Under-Graduate and Graduate Programs for Speech-Language Therapy.

Course Work/Number of Courses/ and Amount of Time Spent Discussing Collaboration	Survey Respondents		Interview Participants	
	Under-	Graduate	Under-	Graduate
	Graduate		Graduate	
No courses taken on	84.8% (140	82.9% (129	0% (0 of	0% (0 of
collaboration	of 164)	of 164)	11)	11)
1 course taken on	9.1% (15 of	12.8% (21 of		
collaboration	164)	164)		
No courses taken that addressed	53.0% (87 of	41.4% (68 of		0% (0 of
collaboration as a course	164)	164)		11)
component				
1 course taken that addressed	31.7% (52 of	31.7 (51 of	9.0% (1 of	
collaboration as a course	164)	164)%	11)	
component				
1 week or less spent on	78.6% (129	75.0% 123	9.0% (1 of	0% (0 of
discussing collaboration	of 164)	of 164)	11)	11)
2 weeks spent on discussing	10.9% (18 of	13.4% (22 of		
collaboration	164)	164)		

Table 8

Courses Taken on Collaboration at a College or University After Receiving Highest Degree and Percentage of Individuals who Participated in Workshops, Staff Trainings, Trainings from Colleagues and Professional Journal Readings

	Survey Respondents	Interview Participants
Graduate Course Work on		•
Collaboration		
0 Courses	64.0% (105 of 164)	0% (0 of 11)
1 Course	14.6% (24 of 164)	0% (0 of 11)
2 Courses	4.3% (7 of 164)	0% (0 of 11)
3 + Courses	17.0% (28 of 164)	0% (0 of 11)
Participated in workshops, conferences, staff trainings,	93.9% (154 of 164)	100% (11 of 11)
trainings from colleagues, and/or in professional journal		
readings since obtaining		
highest degree		

The number of survey respondents who reported course work and opportunities for practical experiences on collaboration should be a part of pre-service education was 97.5% (160 of 164). Interview participant 2 told the researcher, "Collaboration is so important and many speech-language therapists coming out of school with their Master's degree don't have this piece at all. It is important we are educated in collaboration. I wasn't in undergrad school and I wish I would have been." Despite the speech-language therapists in the study reporting strong self-efficacy beliefs regarding their skills to collaborate with regular education classroom teachers 76.2% of the survey respondents (125 of 164) indicated they could benefit from additional coursework in the area of collaboration (see Table 9).

Table 9

Number of Survey Respondents that Feel they Could Benefit from Additional Coursework in the Area of Collaboration

	Survey Respondents (N = 164)
Strongly Agree	22.5% (37 of 164)
Agree	53.6% (88 of 164)
Uncertain	15.8% (26 of 164)
Disagree	6.7% (11 of 164)
_	
Strongly Disagree	1.2% (2 of 164)

It also needs to be noted only 61.5% (101 of 164) of survey respondents reported being knowledgeable regarding the types of co-teaching, (e.g., one teach-one support, station teaching, parallel teaching, alternative teaching, and team teaching). Neither a high degree of pre-service or in-service education was evident nor a unified approach to training in collaboration emerged from the data. This may, in part, explain the lower percentage of survey respondents feeling knowledgeable regarding the types of collaboration and the confusion some of the interview participants had regarding what collaboration is and is not. Interview participant 10 recounted,

I get to know my students better by collaborating with my colleagues. I believe all speech-language therapists should receive training in collaboration because through collaborating you learn what and how to incorporate all of the skills students need into lessons and I think children get a better overall education that way. I think it makes you a better therapist and I am a stronger professional because of it.

Participant 6 indicated collaboration was briefly mentioned in an undergraduate methods and materials class. This individual reported that less than a week was spent discussing collaboration, stating, "I don't feel enough time was spent discussing collaboration. I know we left understanding that collaboration was important, but beyond that I don't recall much. I would have liked more information on the importance of collaboration and more real world examples." Participant 11 stated, "Although I did not have a course on collaboration, we talked about the fact that speech-language therapists should collaborate and we talked about an activity that could be done but it was nothing in-depth. I really wish there was a lot more education about collaboration." Participant 8 described spending approximately four hours of a counseling class for speech-language therapists discussing collaboration. This individual stated, "Now that I'm out in the field I feel like I would have liked to have spent more time discussing collaboration." Participant 4 added, "I had a counseling course for stuttering and approximately one-third of the class time was spent discussing collaboration, however I do not feel enough time was spent discussing collaboration." Participant 2 remarked, "I received my master's degree in special education. Collaboration was part of the philosophy of the program. I gained so much in understanding what collaboration is and how important it is. I learned we as speech-language pathologists need to incorporate what we do into the curriculum, the standards, the PSSAs and the regular education classroom and how we can't be separate entities at all."

When speech-language therapists in the study were asked what they perceived to be the most beneficial form of continuing education or in-service education to learn about, and to develop knowledge and skills of collaboration, they reported attending in-

service sessions or conferences to be the most beneficial form for acquiring this information. These findings corroborated the research of Elksnin and Capilouto (1994). Of the 164 survey respondents, 70.1% (115 of 164) and 100% (11 of 11) interview participants indicated they preferred workshops/trainings and/or lectures over course work to learn about and develop their knowledge and skills of collaboration. All 11 interview participants recounted time set aside solely for collaboration, time to go to conferences, time to share knowledge gained at conferences, teacher flexibility and administrative support to collaborate had the greatest impact on their skills and ability to collaborate. Participant 10 summed up the comments from all of the interview participants when stating,

The more time I have to share ideas with the teachers, co-plan to make lessons stronger, having colleagues open to new ideas and suggestions and support to do this really makes a difference. I learn so much from discussing things with the teacher and the occupational therapist. The one thing that is really cool is when a student learns something in one environment and then they carry it out in another environment. When these things happen I feel good about myself and that I did a good job.

Challenges of Collaboration

The phrase, time is of the essence, expresses the primary theme of the interview participants when they were asked about challenges they may have experienced when working collaboratively with regular education teachers. The individual speech-language therapists were asked about experiences they had that have supported and hindered collaboration with regular education classroom teachers. Studies conducted by Cook and

Friend (1991); Idol and West (1991); and Redditt (1991) identified "time" as a primary barrier to collaboration. Roller, Rodriques, Warner and Lindahl (1992) pointed out the success of a collaborative team depends on teacher flexibility in designing programs to meet individual student needs and openness to new ideas.

All of the speech-language therapists interviewed reported lack of time as a barrier to collaboration. Nine of the interview participants reported challenges with scheduling, working with individuals that did not understand collaboration and inflexible colleagues as the things that have hindered their efforts to collaborate. Interview participant 8 stated, "Some people want you there at a certain time on a certain day. This lack of flexibility makes it very difficult to schedule time to collaborate." Participant 4 added, 'What has hindered me has been time. I always felt stretched, people always wanted me. To go in different directions all the time, how can you collaborate that way?" Participant 2 reported, "Time, time, time has hindered collaboration. Personalities can also really hinder collaboration but if we had time during the week that was set aside solely for collaboration, what a difference that would make. When things don't come together you feel ineffective and like you are not making a difference for the students." Participant 7, 1 and 9 all reported working with difficult personalities and teachers who lacked flexibility and appeared to feel threatened by their presence in the classroom as a big hindrance to collaboration. Participant 7 stated, "I believe the teacher thought I was there to watch them and evaluate their performance. When they realized I was there for the students it seemed to go a lot better." Interview participant 2, 6, 7, 10 and 11 also identified lack of administrative support as a barrier to collaboration. Participant 10 recalled an administrator not supporting collaboration because it was a 'waste of time'

and 'it could lead to problems with billing for services provided to the students.'

Participant 7 added, "When supervisors and principals don't understand collaboration they don't encourage it with classroom teachers. They focus on case load rather than work load and they don't give you time to collaborate."

Unexpected Findings

Prior to conducting each interview, the researcher read the definition of collaboration as it was being defined for the purpose of this study: "Collaboration is being defined as individuals contributing their knowledge and skills and participating in shared decision making as they work together and problem solve to accomplish one or more common and mutually agreed upon goals." In spite of hearing this definition, in response to being asked to elaborate on what has contributed to a successful collaboration experience or an unsuccessful collaboration experience Participant 5 responded,

The other thing we collaborate on is report writing. If the psychologist is involved and I do my testing, we have a system set up where I do my speech-language input and I just email it to her and we cut and paste. Paperwork is just another area that we collaborate on. It is very important when you collaborate and you are part of a team that you are sensitive to everyone's timelines. I am very fortunate I have a very good relationship with everyone.

Participant 6 reported,

I think I am the only person who had developed a website for the school district. I actually have a collaboration section for the website where it has teacher input forms, a lot of resources that help teachers even to determine if the student is in need of services or not. I list strategies they can use for those students who have

language processing disorders. I developed this collaborative portion of the website to help with that. I have a scheduler for anyone who wants to talk with me about something. I have my screening referrals up there. I have a form that teacher have to fill out for a screening. They click submit and it goes into a spread sheet for me. It has the date they requested the screening and the reason for the referral so I know exactly what I am going into.

This evidence is suggestive that these individuals may believe they are collaborating when in reality they are not.

Conclusion

Although the majority of speech-language therapists graduating from programs designed to prepare them to work as speech-language therapists obtained minimal to no formal course work and hands-on preparation in the area of collaboration, the information gathered through the surveys and interviews suggests that the speech-language therapists who participated in this study hold strong self-efficacy beliefs regarding their skills to collaborate with regular education classroom teachers. This may be explained in part because of the individual who chose to participate in the survey and interview. Many of the survey respondents and all of the interview participants expressed participating in workshops, staff trainings and/or lectures on collaboration since beginning their employment in the schools. Furthermore the speech-language therapists in the study reported attending workshops, in-service sessions or conferences to be the most beneficial forms for acquiring information on collaboration.

Some of the descriptors of collaboration such as parity among team members, mutual and shared goals, shared resources, shared accountability for outcomes, flexibility

and administrative support contributed to speech-language therapists' self-efficacy beliefs regarding their skills to collaborate with regular education teachers. However, when these same descriptors were not evident, speech-language therapists had difficulty collaborating with regular education classroom teachers and they reported feelings of being ineffective and not making a difference for the students.

As the information gathered was continually reviewed, some surprising findings were uncovered. Even though the speech-language therapists in the study reporting strong self-efficacy beliefs regarding their skills to collaborate with regular education classroom teachers 76.2% of the survey participants (125 of 164) indicated they could benefit from additional coursework in the area of collaboration. Overall, 98% of the survey respondents believe course work and opportunities for practical experiences should be a part of pre-service education and all of the individuals interviewed indicated a desire for more pre-service education on collaboration.

Another surprising finding was the lack of understanding regarding what collaboration is/is not.

Chapter V will discuss the findings, conclusions and implications of the information uncovered in this mixed-method case study.

CHAPTER V

FINDINGS. CONCLUSIONS AND IMPLICATIONS

Introduction

Speech-language therapists share a common goal with regular education classroom teachers – to meet the needs of students with speech-language impairments being educated in the regular education classroom. To accomplish this, individuals must share responsibility for student success – an outcome that requires both parties to voluntarily engage in collaborative planning, and shared decision-making as they work toward the common goal.

Research shows that the collaborative model for delivery of service provides the most effective means for the speech-language therapist to deliver services to students in an educational setting. In addition to the importance of implementing procedures based on data driven research, the *Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act of 2004* (IDEA 2004) and inclusion necessitates a more collaborative approach. Interprofessional collaboration is also an expected role and professional responsibility of practicing speech-language therapists (American Speech-Language-Hearing Association, 1991a).

The purpose of this mixed-method case study was to investigate the self-efficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists regarding their skills to collaborate with regular education classroom teachers and to investigate what additional preparation, if any, do speech-language therapists believe they need in collaboration to work with regular education teachers.

As this was the researcher's initial investigation into understanding the selfefficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists regarding their skills to collaborate with regular education classroom teachers and gaining understanding regarding what additional preparation, if any, speech-language therapist believe they need in collaboration to work with regular education teachers, this study was limited to speechlanguage therapists working in the state of Pennsylvania. A review of the literature was conducted regarding the theoretical framework for teacher self-efficacy and the theoretical framework for collaboration. A researcher-constructed survey, based on key concepts gleaned from the review of the literature and prior research efforts in the field was validated through a pilot study with input from three supervisors of special education for speech-language support programs and three speech-language therapists practicing in the schools in Pennsylvania. The survey was piloted to establish clarity and content validity prior to distribution to the survey respondents. Practicing speech-language therapists throughout the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania responded to the survey. A total of 164 surveys were completed and returned for analysis. From this initial pool of respondents, 11 self-volunteered, self-selected speech-language therapists participated in a telephone interview designed to gather in-depth information with respect to their selfefficacy beliefs regarding their skills to work in collaboration with regular education classroom teachers. The researcher also investigated what additional preparation, if any; the speech-language therapists believed they need in order to collaborate with regular education teachers.

The survey instrument was used to learn about the distribution of characteristics, attitudes, and beliefs held by speech-language therapists working in educational settings

in Pennsylvania and to describe the various responses of the individuals in the study. Semi-structured interviews were conducted after the surveys were completed. Interviews were used to gain a deeper understanding of the information gathered in the surveys. Data from the surveys and interview were read and re-read by the researcher to obtain a general sense of the information and to reflect on its overall meaning. Data was coded into chunks of information. As the data was continually reviewed, topics were coded into categories and themes. Narrative passages were used to report the findings of the analysis. The narratives detailed the themes that emerged, the multiple perspectives from individuals and the quotations from the participants.

Findings and Conclusions

The goal of this study was to help fill the void in the literature that explored the self-efficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists regarding their skills to collaborate with regular education classroom teachers and to understand what additional preparation, if any, speech-language therapists believe they need in collaboration to work with regular education teachers.

The general picture this researcher can paint from the information gathered through surveys and telephone interviews is that of a confident group of speech-language therapists who work in schools in Pennsylvania and who hold strong self-efficacy beliefs regarding their skills to collaborate with regular education classroom teachers. Based on the information gathered in this study it appears that individuals who held advanced degrees and those who had five or more years of experience held strong self-efficacy beliefs regarding their skills to collaborate with regular education classroom teachers. These results are surprising because the survey respondents and interview participants

expressed receiving very limited pre-service and in-service education in the area of collaboration. Ross (1994) found that personal teaching efficacy appeared to be influenced by different levels of preparation and professional development Research also indicates that professional development opportunities affect teachers' self-efficacy beliefs by compelling them to think critically and behave in a manner that improves their classroom and instructional practices (Henson, 2001). One of the interview participants reported receiving some pre-service education in collaboration. All of the individuals interviewed reported receiving some type of in-service education and they all had experience working in collaboration with regular education classroom teachers. These findings indicate that self-efficacy is not simply gained from course work but rather a combination of knowledge acquired through pre-service education and/or in-service education and field experience. Surprisingly, despite the high self-reported feelings of competence, 77% of the survey respondents indicated they could benefit from additional coursework in collaboration, 88% of the survey respondents and 100% of the interview participants reported they could benefit from additional in-servicing in the area of collaboration. Respondents and participants alike expressed an over whelming desire for more pre-service and in-service education in collaboration. Therefore, college and university training programs, as well as local state educational agencies should provide educational opportunities beyond those which are currently being offered. Specifically, universities should provide more course work and practical experiences and special education supervisors of school programs should provide staff trainings and local workshops as a mechanism for disseminating information regarding collaboration for speech-language therapists working with regular education teachers. Of the 164 survey

responses, 70.1% (115 of 164) of the survey respondents and 100% (11 of 11) of the interview participants preferred to obtain information on collaboration by attending inservice sessions or conferences. These findings echoed the findings of Elksnin and Capiolouto (1994).

Social skills (Moe & Ziess, 1982), assertiveness (Lee, 1983, 1984) motivation and choices an individual makes (Pajares, 1997; Herman, Meece, & McCombs, 2000) have been found to influence self-efficacy beliefs. Participants 5, 6, 9 and 3 all reported a preference to work with others, engaging in a high degree of communication with classroom teachers and other colleagues and all reported evidence of demonstrating initiative and advocating for working in collaboration with classroom teachers for the benefit of students. Some explanations for this reported high sense of self-efficacy to work in collaboration with regular education teachers may result from having strong clinical skills, possessing many years of experience as a speech-language therapist, spending a lot of time in regular education classrooms and gaining information about the regular education curriculum. Teaching efficacy beliefs in experienced teachers appear to be particularly difficult to change because of the internal nature of beliefs that have solidified with experience and time (Ross, 1994). For example, the percentage of speechlanguage therapists that feel competent they have enough clinical and instructional skills to collaborate with regular education classroom teachers was 88.4% (145 of 164). Regarding educational preparation, 117 of the 164 (71.3%) speech-language therapists felt competent that they have enough educational preparation to collaborate with regular education classroom teachers. Another explanation may be some of the speech-language therapists' unknowingly lack an accurate and comprehensive understanding regarding

what it truly means to work collaboration with regular education classroom teachers. Neither a high degree of training nor a unified approach to training in collaboration emerged from the data. This may, in part, explain the lower percentage of survey respondents feeling knowledgeable regarding the types of collaboration and the confusion some of the interview participants had regarding what collaboration is and is not. Only 61.5% (101 of 164) of survey respondents reported being knowledgeable regarding the types of co-teaching, (e.g., one teach-one support, station teaching, parallel teaching, alternative teaching, and team teaching). For the purpose of this study collaboration was defined as the direct interaction of two or more equal parties voluntarily engaged in shared decision-making as they work towards common goals when instructing students (Friend & Cook, 2007). Many of the speech-language therapists in the study reported a high level of communication and interaction with their regular education colleagues. Likewise, the participants, who pose strong social skills, are assertive in getting their needs and wants met and poses a strong desire to work in collaboration with classroom teachers also held strong self-efficacy beliefs regarding their ability to work in collaboration with regular classroom teachers. It appears having high levels of communication and interaction with others may be confused with true collaboration.

Themes in collaboration emerged as important to survey respondents and interview participants. The themes that emerged included parity among colleagues, flexibility, access to shared resources, shared accountability for outcomes, mutual and shared goals and administrative support. These themes of collaboration appeared to impact the beliefs speech-language therapists held regarding their ability to collaborate with regular education classroom teachers. 96.9% (159 of 164) of the survey respondents

believe they possess respect and trust for their regular education classroom colleagues and the number of survey respondents that reported they possess flexibility when working with others was 98.7%. Participant 5 reported, "The teacher and I have complete respect for one another. When we collaborate it is a true partnership. When students aren't being successful, we brainstorm together. We both remain open and willing to try new things. We both deliver instruction and monitor student progress. The really great thing is we have a lot of support from the principal. Without all of these things in place collaboration wouldn't be successful." Likewise, when these same themes of collaboration were not in place, interview participants expressed feelings of defeat. Participant 11 recalled,

I once had a principal who did not believe in collaboration. We weren't given time to co-plan. This made it very difficult to know what the students were working on and needed in the classroom. Many of the teachers in that building were not open minded and were not very flexible with me. Some were not willing to let me see their student at certain

times. I just never completely felt good about what I was doing when I worked in that building.

Understanding self-efficacy beliefs, the skills of collaboration and the influences these constructs have on an individual's success is very significant to understanding an individual's actions. Self-efficacy beliefs influence an individual's self-regulation, motivation and the choices one makes (Pajares, 1997; Herman, Meece, & McCombs, 2000). Most individuals have a tendency to choose activities in which they feel competent and confident and avoid those in which they are not. Therefore, speech-language therapists that develop skills and knowledge in collaboration through pre-

service training, in-service training and/or on-the-job training may develop the skills and the confidence needed to provide service to students in a collaborative manner.

If the profession of speech-language pathology is to assume an increased role in the education of children with speech-language impairments, a need for the modification and/or expansion of existing pre-service preparation programs and in-service education opportunities needs to occur. At present, training experiences vary among institutions of higher education and in-service training provided to speech-language therapists working in schools. However, educational leaders can tap the deep reserve of experience, confidence, and commitment of speech-language therapists and provide a unified and coherent approach to education in the area of collaboration.

Implications

The findings in this study suggest speech-language therapists want and need preservice education and in-service instruction through workshops and conferences. This will ensure they poses an accurate understanding of collaboration, the various models of collaboration and activities of collaboration that will promote shared decision making as team members work toward common and mutually agreed upon goals for instruction students. Administrative support for adequate and appropriate planning time and time to deliver collaboratively taught lessons is also critical.

Recommendations for Further Study

This study focused on the self-efficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists regarding their ability to collaborate with regular education classroom teachers. The two key federal education laws, No Child Left Behind (NCLB) and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act (IDEA) 2004, serve as the framework for

instruction and intervention for regular and special education personnel in schools. IDEA 2004 continues to emphasize fundamental concepts promoted in IDEA 1997 that support the need for collaboration among regular educators and related service providers in educational settings. NCLB stresses the need for accountability and shared responsibility for student outcomes. When speech-language therapists in the study were asked what they perceived to be the most beneficial form of continuing education or in-service education to learn about, and to develop knowledge and skills of collaboration, they reported attending in-service sessions or conferences to be the most beneficial form for acquiring this information. These finding collaborated the research of Elksnin and Capilouto (1994). Of the 164 survey respondents, 70.1% (115 of 164) and 100% (11 of 11) interview participants indicated they preferred workshops, trainings and/or lectures over course work to learn about and develop their knowledge and skills of collaboration. Access to classrooms requires administrative support thus securing administrative support (Cook & Friend, 1990; Friend & Cook, 1992) can be the first step and an important step in a successful collaboration between speech-language therapists and regular education teachers. Therefore, a recommendation for further study would be to examine the perceptions and practices of school administrators regarding the in-service opportunities in collaboration they provide to speech-language therapists and regular education teachers.

A second recommendation is to examine the pre-service training programs available to speech-language therapists in different colleges and universities in Pennsylvania and across the United States. Accreditation standards vary among states. It would be beneficial to explore the results of the study when performed on speech-

language therapists from other states in respect to the levels of academic knowledge, clinical and/or educational experiences they receive in the area of collaboration.

A third recommendation for further study is to examine the perception of regular education teachers' self-efficacy beliefs regarding their ability to collaborate with speech-language therapists.

A fourth and final suggestion is to examine the components of the study with different sample populations from a location perspective. The study took place in Pennsylvania. Replicating the study on a larger scale may produce additional information to either enhance or diminish the information gathered and the knowledge gained from this study.

Summary

This mixed-method case study explored the self-efficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists working in schools in Pennsylvania regarding their skills to collaborate with regular education classroom teachers. It also explored what additional preparation, if any speech-language therapists believe they need in collaboration to work with regular education teachers.

Federal and state laws and practices mandating students be educated in least restrictive environments make it necessary to provide training to speech-language therapists on collaboration. The information gathered suggests that speech-language therapists working in schools in Pennsylvania report having strong self-efficacy beliefs regarding their skills to collaborate with regular education classroom teachers despite receiving minimal to no coursework and clinical experience in collaboration in bachelor's and master's level programs that prepare individuals to become speech-language

therapists. The information gathered in this study also revealed many of the survey respondents and all of the interview participants felt they could benefit from additional coursework in the area of collaboration and they could benefit from additional inservicing in the area of collaboration. A high number of respondents and all of the participants in this study identified workshops/trainings/lectures along with time spent planning, discussing and communicating with colleagues as the most beneficial means to learn about and develop skills and knowledge of collaboration. A surprising finding was uncovered during this study. Speech-language therapists working in schools in Pennsylvania may lack an accurate understanding of what it means to work in collaboration with regular education teachers. The collective information gathered from the study suggests that additional coursework addressing collaboration along with modifications to other avenues of professional preparation such as in-service opportunities, workshops, lectures and/or time spent planning, discussing and communicating with colleagues are desired and are necessary to ensure stronger and appropriate preparation of speech-language therapists planning to and/or working in collaboration with regular education teachers in schools.

REFERENCES

- Achilles, J., Yates, R. R., & Freese, J. M. (1991). Perspectives from the field:

 Collaborative consultation in the speech and language program of the Dallas

 Independent School District. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in*Schools, 22, 154-155.
- Achinstein, B. (2002). Conflict amid community: The micropolitics of teacher collaboration. *Teachers College Record*, *104*, 421-455.
- Adams, M. J. (1990). *Beginning to read: Thinking and learning about print*.

 Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Allinder, R. (1994). The relationship between efficacy and the instructional practices of special education teachers and consultants. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 17(2), 86-95.
- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (1990). A model for collaborative service delivery for students with language-learning disorders in the public schools (relevant paper). Rockville, MD: Author
- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (1991). A model for collaborative service delivery for students with language learning disorders in the public schools. *ASHA*, *33*, 44 50.
- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (1991a, March). Guidelines for speech-language pathologists serving persons with language, socio-communicative, and/or cognitive-communicative impairments. *ASHA*, *33*, (Suppl. 5), 21 28.
- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (1991b, March). A model for

- collaborative service delivery for students with language-learning disorders in the public schools. ASHA, 33, (Suppl. 5), 44 50.
- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (1993). 1992 omnibus survey results.

 Rockville, MD: Author.
- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (1995). *ASHA schools survey*. Rockville, MD: Author.
- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (1996). *Inclusive practices for children and youths with communication disorders* (technical report).

 Rockville, MD: Author
- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (1996b). Inclusive practices for children and youths with communication disorders [Position statement]. *ASHA*, *38*(Suppl. 16), 35-44.
- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (1996c, Spring). Scope of practice in speech-language pathology. Asha, 38(Suppl, 16), 16-20.
- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (1999). Guidelines for the roles and responsibilities of the school-based speech-language pathologist. Rockville, MD: Author.
- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (2000). Guidelines for the Roles and responsibilities of the school-based speech-language pathologist. Rockville, MD: Author.
- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (2001). Roles and responsibilities of speech—language pathologists with respect to reading and writing in children and adolescents (technical report). Rockville, MD: Author.

- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (2001). Scope of practive in speech-language pathology. Rockville, MD: Author.
- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (2003b). *Omnibus survey caseload report: SLP*. Rockville, MD: Author.
- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (2005). 2005 Standards and implementation procedures for the certificate of clinical competency in speech-language pathology. Available from The American Speech-Language-Hearing Association website, http://www.asha.org/about/membership-certification/
- American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. (2006). 2006 Schools

 Survey report: Caseload characteristics. Rockville, MD: Author.
- Anderson, S. E., & Gansneder, B.M. (1985). Using electronic mail surveys and computer monitored data for studying computer mediated communication systems. *Social Science Computer Review*, *13*, (1), 33-46.
- Arllen, N. L., & Gable, R. A. (1996). Accommodating students with special needs in general education classrooms. *Preventing School Failure*, 41, 7-14.
- Ashton, P. (1984). Teacher efficacy: A motivational paradigm for effective teacher Education. *Journal of Teacher Education*, *35*(5), 28-32.
- Ball, E. W., & Blachman, B. A. (1991). Does phoneme segmentation training in kindergarten make a difference in early word recognition and developmental spelling? *Reading Research Quarterly*, 26, 49-66.
- Bandura, A. (1977). "Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change." *Psychological Review*, 84, 191-215.
- Bandura, A. (1983). Self-efficacy determinants of anticipated fears and calamities.

- *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 45, 464-469.*
- Bandura, A. (1986). Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. New York: Freeman.
- Bandura, A. (2001). Social cognitive theory: Anagentic perspective. *Annual Review Psychology*, 52, 1-26.
- Banotai, A. (2005, March 28). Education legislation Impact of NCLB and IDEA '04 on school clinicians. *Advance*, 6-9.
- Bauwens, J., & Hourcade, J. (1995). *Cooperative teaching: Rebuilding the schoolhouse* for all students. Austin, TX: Pro-Ed. ED 383 130.
- Beck, A. R., & Dennis, M. (1997). Speech-language pathologists' and teachers' perceptions of classroom-based interventions. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools* 28, 146-153.
- Becker, H. (1970). Sociological work: method and substance. Chicago: Aldine.
- Bennett, C. (1971). Communication disorders in the public schools. In L. Travis (Ed.),

 Handbook of speech pathology and audiology (pp. 963-994). New York:

 Appleton-Century-Crofts.
- Berman, P., McLaughlin, M., Bass, G., Pauly, E., & Zellman, G. (1977). Federal programs supporting educational change (Vol. 3): *Factors affecting implementation and continuation* (Report no. R-1589/8-Hew). Santa Monica, CA: Rand. (ERIC Document reproduction service no: ED 140 432).
- Bernard, H.R. (1988). *Research Methods in Cultural Anthropology*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.

- Best, J. W. & Kahn, J. V. (1989). *Research in education* (6th ed.). Boston: Allyn and Bacon.
- Bishop, D. V. M. & Adams, C. (1990). A prospective study of the relationship between specific language impairment, phonological disorders and reading retardation. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 31, 1027-1050.
- Bland, L. E. & Prelock, P. A. (1995). Effects of collaboration on language performance. *Journal of Children's Communication Development*, 17(2), 31-38.
- Blosser, J. L. & Kratcoski, A. (1997). PACs: A framework for determining appropriate service delivery options. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 28, 99-107.
- Botting, N. & Conti-Ramsden, G. (2000). Social and behavioral difficulties in children with language impairment. *Child Language Teaching and Therapy*, 16, 105-120.
- Borko, H. & Putnam, R. (1996). Learning to teach. In D. c. Berliner & R. C. Calfee (Eds.), *Handbook of educational psychology* (pp. 673-708), New York: MacMillan.
- Borsch, J. & Oaks, R. (1992). Effective collaboration at Central Elementary School.

 Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools in Schools, 23, 367-368.
- Boudreau, D.M. & Hedberg, N. L. (1999). A comparison of early literacy skills in children with specific language impairments and their typically developing peers. *American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology*, 8, 249-260.
- Bradley, L. & Bryant, P. (1985). *Rhyme and reason in reading and spelling*. Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Press.

- Brandel, D. (1992). Collaboration: Full steam ahead with no prior experience!

 Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 23, 369-370.
- Brouwers, A., & Tomic, W. (2000). A longitudinal study of teacher burnout and Perceived self-efficacy in classroom management. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 16, 239-253.
- Bryman, A. (1988). Quantity and quality in social research. London: Unwin Hyman.
- Carpenter, S. L., King-Sears, M. E., & Keys, S. G. (1998). Counselors + Educators + families as a transdisciplinary team = more effective inclusion for students with disabilities. *Professional School Counseling*, 2, 1-9.
- Catts, H. W. (1993). The relationship between speech-language impairments and reading disabilities. *Journal of Speech and Hearing Research*, *36*, 948-958.
- Ceren, T. (2005). Self-efficacy, attitude, and science knowledge. *Academic Exchange Quarterly*. [Online]. Retrieved April 22, 2008, from http://www.thefreelibrary.com/_/print/Print/Article.aspx?id=142636388.
- Chard, P. (2003, December 2). Being right is a matter of billions of perceptions. *The Milwaukee Journal Sentinel*. Retrieved February 2, 2009, from http://www.highbeam.com.
- Christensen, S. & Luckett, C. (1990). Getting into the classroom and making it work! *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 21, 110-113.
- Chermak, G. D. (1993). Dynamics of collaborative consultation with families. *American Journal of Audiology*, 2(3), 38-44.
- Cohen, N. & Menua, R. (1998). Language, social cognitive processing and behavior characteristics of psychiatrically disturbed children with previously unidentified

- and suspected language impairments. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 6, 853 864.
- Cook, T. D., & Campbell, D. T. (1979). *Quasi-experimentation: Design and analysis issues*. Boston, MA: Houghton Mifflin Company.
- Cook, L., & Friend, M. (1991). Collaboration in special education. *Preventing School Failure*, 35, 24-28.
- Cooper, C. (1991). Using collaborative/consultative service delivery models for fluency intervention and carryover. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 22, 152-153.
- Council for Exceptional Children. (2000). Developing educationally relevant IEPs:

 A technical assistance document for speech-language pathologists. Reston,

 VA: Author.
- Creative Research Systems. (2003). The Survey System [Computer software]. Retrieved March 2010 from www.surveysystem.com/sscalc.htm.
- Creswell, J. W. (1998) Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five traditions. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Crutchfield, M. (in press). Who's teaching our children? NICHCY News Digest.
- Cunningham, B. B. (1990). Explicit versus implicit instruction in phonemic awareness. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 50, 429-444.
- Darling-Hammond, L., & McLaughlin, M. (1995). Policies that support professional development in an era of reform. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 76, 597-604.
- Darling-Hammond, L., Chung, R., & Frelow, F. (2002). Variations in teacher preparation: How well do different pathways prepare teachers to teach? *Journal*

- of Teacher Education, 53(4), 286-302.
- DeKemel, K. (2003). Alternative Service Delivery Models. In *Intervention in Language* \

 Arts: A Practical Guide for Speech-Language Pathologists. St. Louis, MO:

 Butterworth Heinemann/Elsevier Science.
- Dey, I. Qualitative Data Analysis. London: Routledge, 1993.
- Dieker, L. A. (2001). Collaboration as a tool to resolve the issue of disjointed service delivery. *Journal of Educational and Psychological Consultation*, 12, 263-269.
- Dillman, D. (1978). *Mail and telephones surveys: The total design method*. New York: Wiley-Interscience.
- Dillman, D. (2000). Mail and internet surveys: The tailored design method. New York: Wiley.
- Dillman, D., Clark, J., & Sinclair, M. (1995). How prenotice letters, stamped return envelopes, and reminder postcards affect mailback response rates for census questionnaires. *Survey Methodology 21*, 1-7.
- Dockrell, J. & Lindsay, G. (1989). The ways in which speech and language difficulties impact on children's access to the curriculum. *Child Language Teaching and Therapy*, 14, 117 133.
- Dublinske, S. (1989). Speech-language pathologists and the regular education initiative. *ASHA*, *31*, 47-49.
- Duchardt, B., Marlow, L., Inman, D., Christensen, P., & Reeves, M. (1999).

 Collaboration and co-teaching: General and special education. *Clearing House*, 72(3), 186-191.

- Duchan, J. (2002). *Getting here: The first hundred years of speech pathology in America*.

 URL: www.acsu.buffalo.edu/~duchan/history.html.
- Ebert, K. A. & Prelock, P. A. (1994). Teachers' perceptions of their students with communication disorders. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 25, 211-214.
- Eger, D. L. (2000). Has the new IDEA improved services? ASHA Leader, 5 (18)4.
- Ehrens, B.J. (2000). Maintaining a therapeutic focus and sharing responsibility for student success: Keys to in-classroom speech-language services.

 Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 31, 219-229.
- Electronic reference format recommended by the American Psychological Association.

 Retrieved February 9, 2011, from

 https://www.portal.state.pa.us/portal/server.pt/communicty/approved_certification

 programs/
- Electronic reference format recommended by the American Psychological Association.

 Retrieved February 16, 2011, from

 http://gse.berleley.edu/research/credearchive/tools/glossary.html
- Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESEA), 20 U.S.C. §2701 et seq. (1965).
- Elksnin, L. K., & Capilouto, G. J. (1994). Speech-language pathologists's perceptions of integrated service delivery in school settings. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 25, 258-267.
- Ellis, L., Schlaudeker, C., & Regimbal, C. (1995). Effectiveness of a collaborative consultation approach to basic concept instruction with kindergarten children.

 Language, Speech and Hearing Services in Schools, 26, 69-74.

- Emmer, E., & Hickman, J. (1991). Teacher efficacy in classroom management and discipline. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, *51*, 755-765.
- Evans, S. B. (1991). A realistic look at the research base for collaboration in special education. *Preventing School Failure*, *35*, 10-14.
- Farber, J., Denenberg, M. E., Klyman, S., & Lachman, P. (1992). Language resource room level of service: An urban school district approach to integrative treatment.

 *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 23, 293-299.
- Farber, J. G., & Klein, E. R. (1999). Classroom-based assessment of a collaborative intervention program with kindergarten and first-grade students. *Language*, *Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, *30*, 83-91.
- Falvey, M.A. (1989). *Community-based curriculum: Instructional strategies for*Students with severe handicaps (2nd ed.). Baltimore: Paul H. Brookes Publishing
 Co.
- Ferguson, M. (1991). Collaborative/consultative service delivery: An introduction.

 Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 22, 147.
- Ferguson, M. (1992). Implementing collaborative consultation: The transition to collaborative teaching. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 23, 371-372.
- Fielding, N., & Fielding, J. (1986). Linking data. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- Fletcher, J. (1990). Self-esteem and cooperative education: Theoretical framework. *Journal of Cooperative Education*, 26(3), 41-55.
- Friend, M. (2006). Special Education: Contemporary Perspectives for School Professionals. Boston: Pearson.

- Friend, M. (2008). Co-teach! A manual for creating and sustaining effective classroom

 Partnerships in inclusive schools. Greensboro, NC: Marilyn Friend, Inc.
- Friend, M., & Bursuck, W. (1999). *Including students with special needs: A practical guide for teachers*. Allyn and Bacon: Boston.
- Friend, M., & Cook, L. (1992). *Interactions: Collaboration skills for school professionals*. New York: Longman.
- Friend, M., & Cook, L. (2003). *Interactions: Collaboration skills for school professionals*Allyn & Bacon.
- Friend, M, & Cook, L. (2007). *Interactions: Collaborative skills for school professionals* (5th ed.). Boston: Allyn & Bacon.
- Gascoigne, M. (2008). Change for children with language and communication needs:

 Creating sustainable integrated services. *Child Language Teaching and Therapy*,

 24, 133-154.
- Gay, L. R. & Airasian, P. (2000) Educational research: Competencies for analysis and application (6th ed). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Gerber, A. (1987). Collaboration between slps and educators: A continuing education process. *Journal of Childhood Communication Disorders*, 11,107-123.
- Gerber, P., & Popp, P. (1999) Consumer perspectives on the collaborative teaching model. Views of the students with and without LD and their parents. *Remedial and Special Education*, 20(5), 288-296.
- Ghaith, G., & Yaghi, H. (1997). Rlationships among experience, teacher efficacy, and attitudes toward implementation of instructional innovation. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 73(4), 451-458.

- Giangreco, M.F. (2000). Related services research for students with low incidence disabilities: Implications for speech-language pathologists in inclusive classrooms. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in the Schools, 31*, 230-239.
- Gibson, S., & Dembo, M. (1984). Teacher efficacy: A construct validation. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 76, 569-582.classrooms. *Language*, *Speech*, and Hearing Services in Schools, 31, 230-239.
- Glennen, S., & DeCoste, D. (1997). *Handbook of augmentative and alternative communication*. San Diego, CA: Singular Publishing Group.
- Goddard, R., Hoy, W., & Woolfolk-Hoy, A. (2000). Collective teacher efficacy: Its

 Meaning, measure, and impact on academic achievement. *American Educational Research Journal*, 37(2), 479-507.
- Gonzalez, M., Espinel, A. I., & Rosquette, G. R. (2002). Remedial interventions for children with reading disabilities: Speech perception-an effective component in phonological training? *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, *35*(4), 334-342.
- Greene, J. C., Caracelli, V. J., & Graham, W. F. (1989). Toward a conceptual framework

 For mixed-method evaluation designs. *Educational Evaluation and Policy*Analysis, 11, 255-274.
- Guba, E. G. "What Have We Learned About Naturalistic Evaluation?" *Evaluation Practice*, 1981.
- Gunderloy, M. (2007, April 9). *Serious surveys with Zoomerang*. Retrieved February 12, 2009, from http://webworkerdaily.com
- Guskey, T. & Passaro, P. (1994). Teacher efficacy: A study of construct dimensions.

 *American Educational Research Journal, 31, 627-643.

- Hackett, G., & Betz, N. (1981). A self-efficacy approach to the career development of women. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 18(3), 326-39.
- Hadley, P. A., Simmerman, A., Long, M., & Luna, M. (2000). Facilitating language development for inner-city children: Experimental evaluation of a collaborative, classroom-based intervention. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in* Schools, 31, 280-295.
- Hall, B., Burley, W., Villeme, M., & Brockmeier, L. (1992). An attempt to explicate teacher efficacy beliefs among first-year teachers. American Educational Research Association, San Francisco, CA.
- Hammersley, M., & Atkinson, P. (1995). *Ethnography: Principles in practice* (2nd ed.). London: Routledge.
- Hartas, D. (2004). Teacher and speech-language therapist collaboration: Being equal and achieving a common goal? *Child Language Teaching and Therapy*, 20, 33-54.
- Hastings, R. & Oakford, S. (2003). Student teachers' attitudes toward inclusion of children with special needs. *Educational Psychology*, 23, 87-94.
- Heberlein, T.A., & Baumgartner, R. (1978). Factors affecting responses rates to mailed questionnaires: A quantitative analysis of the published literature. *American Sociological Review*, 43, 447-462.
- Henson, R. (2001). The effects of participation in teacher research on teacher efficacy. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 17(7), 819-836.
- Herman, P., Meece, J., & McCombs, B. (2000). Teacher experience and teacher efficacy:

- Relations to student motivation and achievement. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association, New Orleans, LA.
- Hitchcock, G., & Hughes, D. (1989). Research and the Teacher: A Qualitative Introduction to School-based Research. London: Routledge.
- Hudson, P., & Glomb, N. (1997). If it takes two to tango, then why not teach both Partners to dance? collaboration instruction for all educators. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, *30*, 442-448.
- Isacc, S. & Michael, W. (1990). *Handbook in research and evaluation: For education and the behavioral sciences* (2nd ed.). San Diego, CA: EdiTS Publishers.
- Idol-Maestas, L., Paolucci-Whitcomb, P., & Levin, A. (1986). *Collaborative* consultation. Austin, TX: Pro-Ed.
- Individuals with Disabilities Education Act Amendments of 1997, PL 105-17, 20 U.S.C. §1400 et seq.
- Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act of 2004 (IDEA), 20 U.S.C. §1400 et seq. (2004).
- Ireson, J. (1992). Collaboration in support systems. *British Journal of Special Education*. 19, 56–58.
- Jacob, E. (1988). Clarifying qualitative research: A focus on tradition. *Educational Researcher*, 17, 16-19, 22-24.
- Johnson, B., & Turner, L. A. (2003). Data collection strategies in mixed methods research. In A. Tashakkori & Teddlie (Eds.), *Handbook of mixed methods in social and behavioral research* (pp. 297-319). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Johnson, L. & Bauer, A. (1992). Meeting the needs of special students: legal, ethical,

- and practical ramifications. Newbury Park, CA: Corwin Press.
- Johnson, S., & Birkeland, A. (2003). The school that teachers choose. *Educational Leadership*, 60, 20-24.
- Kaplowitz, M. D., Hadlock, T. D., & Levine, R. (2004). A Comparison of web and mail survey response rates. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 68(1), 94-101.
- Kaufman, S., Prelock, P., Weiler, E., Creaghead, N. & Donnelly, C. (1994).
 metapragmatic awareness of explanation adequacy: Developing skills for academic success from a collaborative communication skills unit. *Language*,
 Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 25, 174–180.
- Kavale, K. (2005). Effective intervention for students with specific learning disability: The nature of special education. *Learning Disabilities*, *13*(4), 127-138.
- Kelly, E.M., Martin, J. S., Baker, K. E., Rivera, N. I., Bishop, N.I., Krizizke, C. B., Stettler, D.S. & Stealy, J.M. (1997). Academic and clinical preparation and practices of school speech-language pathologists with people who stutter.
 Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 28, 195-212.
- Kerzner-Lipsky, D. (2003). The coexistence of high standards and inclusion. *School Administrator*, 60, 32-35.
- Keys, S. G, Bemak, F., Carpenter, S. L. & King-Sears M. E. (1998). Collaborative consultant: A new role for counselors serving at-risk youths. (1998).
 Journal of Counseling & Development, 76, 123-133.
- Kittleson, M. J. (1995). An assessment of the response rate via the Postal Service and e-mail. *Health Values*, 19(2), 27-39.
- Kittleson, M. J. (1997). Determining effective follow-up of e-mail surveys. *American*

- Journal of Health Behavior, 21(3), 193-196.
- Lacey, P. & Lomas, J. (1993). Support Services and the Curriculum: A Practical Guide to Collaboration. London: David Fulton Publishers.
- Lane, H. B., Pullen, P. C., Eisele, M. R., & Jordan, L. (2002). Preventing reading failure: Phonological awareness assessment and instruction. *Preventing School Failure*, 46, 101-110.
- Lee, C. (1983). Self-efficacy and behavior as predictors of subsequent behavior in an assertiveness training program. *Behavior Research and Therapy*, 21, 225-232.
- Lee, C. (1984). Acuracy of efficacy and outcome expectations in predicting performance in a simulated assertiveness task. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 8, 37-48.
- Leedy, P., & Ormrod, J. (2001). *Practical research: Planning and design*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Lent, R., Brown, S. & Hackett, G. (1994). Toward a unifying social cognitive therory of career and academic interest, choice, and performance. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 45, 79 122.
- Liberman, I. Y., Shankweiler, D., Fischer, F. W., & Carter, B. (1974). Explicit syllable and phoneme segmentation in the young child. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 18, 201-212.
- Lie, A. (1991). Effects of a raining program for stimulating skills in word analysis in first-grade children. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 26, 234-250.
- Lieven E. (1984). Interactional styleand children's language learning. *Topics in Language Disorders*, 4(4), 15-23.
- Likert, R. A. A Technique for the Measurement of Attitudes. Archives of Psychology,

- 1932, No. 140.
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985) *Naturalistic inquiry*. Beverly Hills, AC: Sage.
- Lindsay G. & Dockrell, J. (2000). The behavior and self-esteem of children with specific speech and language difficulties. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 70, 583–601.
- Louis, K., Kruse, S., & Marks, H. (1996). Schoolwide professional community.

 In F.M. Newmann (Ed.), Authentic achievement: Restructuring schools for intellectual quality (pp. 179-204. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Lundberg, I., Frost, J., & Peterson, O. (1988). Effects of an extensive program for Stimulating phonological awareness in preschool children. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 23, 263-284.
- Lundberg, I., Wall, S., & Olofason, A. (1980). Reading and spelling skills in the first school years predicted from phonemic awareness skills in kindergarten.

 Scandinavian Journal of Psychology, 21, 159-173.
- Lyon, S., & Lyon, G. (1980). Team functioning and staff development: A role release approach to providing integrated educational services for severely handicapped students. *Journal of the Association for the Severely Handicapped*, 5, 250-263.
- Magnotta O. (1991). Looking beyond tradition. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 22, 150-151.
- Mann, V.A., & Liberman, I. Y. (1984). Phonological awareness and verbal short-term memory: Can they presage early reading problems? *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, *17*, 592-599.
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. (2006). Designing Qualitative Research. Thousand Oaks:

- CA: Sage Publications.
- Marvin, C. A. (1987). Consultation services: Changing roles for slps. *Journal of Childhood Communications Disorders*, 11, 1-15.
- Masterson, J. J. (1993). Classroom-based phonological intervention. *American Journal of Speech Language Pathology*, 1, 5-9.
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. (1999). *Designing qualitative research* (3rd ed.).

 Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Martin, D., & Miller, C. (1999). Language and the curriculum: Practitioner research in planning differentiation. London: David Fulton Publishers.
- Maurer, T. J., & Andrews, K. D. (2000). Traditional, Likert, and simplified measures of self-efficacy. *Educational & Psychological Measurement*, 60, 965-974.
- Maurer, T. J., & Pierce, H. R. (1998). A comparison of *Likert scale* and traditional measures of self-efficacy. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 83, 324-329.
- Maxwell, J. (2005). *Qualitative research design: An interactive approach*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Maxwell, J., & Loomis, D. ((2002). Mixed methods design: An alternative approach.

 In A. Tashakkori & C. Teddlie (Eds), *Handbook of mixed methods in social*and behavioral research (pp. 241-271). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- McDade, H., & Varnedoe, D. (1987). Training parents to be language facilitators. *Topics in Language Disorders*, 7(3), 19-30.
- Mehta, R., & Sivadas, E. (1995). Comparing responses rates and response content in mail versus electronic mail surveys. *Journal of the Market Research Society*, 37(4), 429-439.

- Merriam, S. (1988). *Qualitative reserrch and case study applications in education*.

 San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Miles, M., & Huberman, A. (1994). *Qualitative data analysis: An expanded sourcebook*.

 (2nd ed.) Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Moe, K., & Ziess, A. (1982). Measuring self-efficacy expectations for social skills:

 A methodological inquiry. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 8, 107-120.
- Montgomery, J. (1992). Perspectives from the field: Language, speech, and hearing services in schools. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 23, 363-364.
- Moore, W., & Esselman, M. (1992). *Teacher efficacy, power, school climate, and achievement: A desegregating district's experience*. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, San Francisco.
- Moore-Brown, B. (1991). Moving in the direction of change: Thoughts for administrators and speech-language pathologist. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 22, 148-149.
- Moore-Brown, B., & Montgomery, J. K. (2001). *Making a difference for America's children: Speech-language pathologists in public schools*. Eau Claire, WI: Thinking Publications.
- Moore-Brown, B., & Montgomery, J.(2005). *Making a difference in the era of accountability: Update on NCLB and IDEA 2004*. Eau Claire, WI: Thinking Publications.
- Mosheim, J. (2008). Get the right referrals. Advance Newsmagazines, 18,(38) 6.

- Miller, L. (1989). Classroom-based language intervention. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 20(2), 153-169.
- Miller, L. (1989). Classroom-based language intervention. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 20(2), 153-169.
- Myklebust, H. (1971). Childhood aphasia: An evolving concept. In L. Travis (Ed.), Handbook of speech pathology and audiology (pp. 1181-1202). New York: Appleton-Century-Crofts.
- Nakayama, K. (1994). James J. Gibson: An appreciation. *Psychological Review*, 110, 329-335.
- National Reading Panel. (2000). Teaching children to read: An evidence-based assessment of the scientific research literature on reading and its implications for reading instruction. Washington, DC: National Institute of Child Health and Human Development, National Institutes of Health.
- Newman, I., Ridenour, C. S., Newman, C., & DeMarco, G. M. P. (2003). A typology of research purposes and its relationship to mixed methods. In A. Tashakkori & C. Teddlie (Eds.), *Handbook of mixed methods in social and behavioral research* (pp. 167-188). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- No Child Left Behind (NCLB) Act of 2001 (January 8, 2002). PL 107-110. 20 U.S.C. 6301.
- Norris, J. A. (1989). Providing language remediation in the classroom: An integrated language-to-reading intervention method. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 20,205-218.
- Norwich, B. (1990). Reappraising special needs education. London: Cassell.

- O'Connell, P. F. (1997). Speech, language, and hearing programs in schools: A guide for students and practitioners. Gaithersburg, MD: Aspen Publications.
- O'Conner, R. E., Jenkins, J. R., Leicester, N., Slocum, T. A. (1993). Teaching phonological awareness to young children with learning disabilities. *Exceptional Children*, *59*, 532-546.
- O'Neill, J. J. (1987). *Administration of Programs in Speech-Language Pathology and Audiology*. In H. J. Oyer (Ed.), The development of speech-language pathology and audiology in the united states (pp. 1-14).
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Teddlie, C. (2003). A framework for analyzing data in mixed Methods research. In A. Tashakkori & Teddlie (Eds.), *Handbook of mixed methods in social and behavioral research* (pp. 351-383). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- O'Toole, C., Kirkpatrick, V. (2007). Building collaboration between professionals in health and education through interdisciplinary training. *Child Language Teaching* and *Therapy*, 23, 325-352.
- Pagach, M., & Johnson, L. (1995). Unlocking expertise among clasroom teachers through structured dialogue: Extending research on peer collaboration. *Exceptional Children*, 62, 101-110.
- Pagach, M., & Johnson, L. (2002). *Collaborative practitioners, collaborative schools* 2nd ed. Denver, CO: Love Publishing.
- Pajares, F. ((1996). Self-efficacy beliefs in academic settings. *Review of Educational Research*, 66, 543-578.
- Pajares, F. (1997). Current directions in self-efficacy research. In M. Maehr & P.R.

- Pintrich (eds.), *Advances in motivation and achievement. Volume 10*, pp. 1-49. Greenwich, CT: JAI Press.
- Patterson, E. G., D'Wolff, N., Hutchison, D., Lowry, M., Schilling, M., & Siepp, J.

 (1976). Staff development handbook: A resource for the transdisciplinary process.

 New York: United Cerebral Palsy Association.
- Patton, M.Q. (1990) Qualitative Evaluation Methods. (2nd ed.) Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Pena, E., Quinn, R. (2003). Developing effective collaboration teams in speech language pathology: A case study. *Communication Disorders Quarterly*, 24, 53-63.
- Pennsylvania's Professional Development Law Act 48 of 1999. Document available from the Pennsylvania Department of Education, Division of Professional Development.
- Pennsylvania Department of Education and Pennsylvania Association of Intermediate

 Units. (2000). Early Childhood Learning Continuum Indicators. Harrisburg, PA:

 Bureau of Curriculum and Academic Services.
- Plourde, L.A. (2002). The influence of student teaching on pre-service elementary teachers' science self-efficacy and outcome expectancy beliefs. *Journal of Instructional Psychology*, 29(4), 245–253.
- Prelock, P. A. (1995). Rethinking collaboration: A speech-language pathology perspective. *Journal of Educational, and Psychological Consultation, 6*, 95-99.
- Prelock, P. (2000). An intervention focus for inclusionary practice. *Language, Speech,*And Hearing Services in Schools, 31, 296-298.
- Prelock, P. (2002). Multiple perspectives for determining the roles of speech-language

- pathologists in inclusionary classrooms. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services In Schools, 31,* 213-218.
- Prelock, P., Miller, B., & Reed, N. (1995). Collaborative partnerships in a language in the classroom program. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 26, 286-292.
- Ratner, V., Harris, L. (1994). *Understanding language disorders: The impact on learning*. Eau Claire, WI: Thinking Publications.
- Rainforth, B., York, J., & Macdonald, C. (1992). *Collaborative teams for students with severe disabilities*. Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brookes Publishing.
- Richardson, V., & Placier, P. (2001). Teacher change. In Richardson, V. (Ed.).

 Handbook of Research on Teaching. Washington DC: AERA. 905-947.
- Rimm-Kaufman, S., & Sawyer, B. (2004). Primary-grade teachers' self-efficacy beliefs, attitudes toward teaching, and discipline and teaching practice priorities in relation to the responsive classroom approach. *Elementary School Journal*, 104(4), 321-341.
- Ripley, K. & Yuill, N. (2005). Patterns of language impairment and behavior in boys excluded from school. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 75, 37-50.
- Ritzman, M., Sanger, D., Coufal, K. (2006). A case study of a collaborative speech language pathologist. *Communication Disorders Quarterly*, 27, 221-231.
- Robelen, E. W. (2005, April 13). 40 years after ESEA, federal role in schools is broader than ever. *Education Week*, 24(31), 1, 42.
- Roberts, J. E., Prizant, B., & McWilliam, R.A. (1995). Out-of-class versus in-class

 Service delivery in language intervention: Effects on communication interactions

- with young children. American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology, 4, 87-94.
- Roller, E., Rodriquez, T., Warner, J., & Lindahl, P. (1992). Integration of self-contained children with severe speech-language needs into the regular education classroom.

 Language, Speech, and Herning Services in Schools, 23, 365-366.
- Rosenholtz, S. (1989). *Teachers' workplace: The social organization of schools.*White Plains, NY: Longman.
- Ross, J. (1994). The impact of an in-service to promote cooperative learning on the stability of teacher efficacy. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *10*, 381-394.
- Ross, J. (1998). The antecedents and consequences of teacher efficacy. In J. Brophy (Ed.) *Advances in research on teaching, Vol. 7* (pp. 49-74). Greenwich, CT: JAI Press.
- Rossman, G., & Rallis, W. (1998). *Learning in the field: An introduction to qualitative research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Rotter, J. (1966). Generalized expectancies for internal versus external control of reinforcement. *Psychological Monographs*, 80, 1-28.
- Roux, J. (1996). Working collaboratively with teachers: supporting the newly qualified speech and language therapist in a mainstream school. *Child Language Teaching and Therapy*, 12, 48-59.
- Russell, S. C. & Kaderavek, J. N. (1993). Alternative models for collaboration.

 Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 24, 76-78.
- Ryndak, D., & Alper, L. (1996). Parents' perceptions of educational settings and services for children with moderate or severe disabilities. *Remedial and Special Education*, 17, 106-118.

- Sands, D., Kozleski, E., & French N. (2000). *Inclusive education for the 21st century*.

 United States: Wadsworth Thomson Learning.
- Santos, M. (2002). From mystery to mainstream: Today's school-based speech-language pathologist. *Educational Horizons*, *4*, 93-96.
- Sandelowski, M. (1995). Focus on qualitative methods: Sample size in qualitative research. *Research in Nursing and Health*, *18*, 179-183.
- Scarborough, H. S., & Dobrich, W. (1990). Development of children with early Language delay. *Journal of Speech and Hearing Research*, 33, 70-83.
- Schacter, D. L. (1999). The seven sins of memory: Insights from psychology and cognitive neuroscience. *American Psychology*, *54*, 182-203.
- Schunk, D. (1981). Modeling and attributional feedback on children's achievement: A self-efficacy analysis. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 73, 93-105.
- Schunk, D. (1983). Developing children's self-efficacy and skills: The roles of social Comparative information and goal setting. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 8, 76-86.
- Schunk, D. (1989). Self-efficacy and achievement behaviors. *Educational Psychology**Review, 1, 173-208.
- Shahid, J., & Thompson, D. (2001). *Teacher efficacy: A research synthesis*. Paper Presented at the American Educational Research Association, Seattle, WA.
- Share, D. L., Jorm, A. F., Maclean, R., & Matthews, R. (1984). Sources of individual differences in reading acquisition. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 76, 1209-1324.
- Shaughnessy, M. (2004). An interview with Anita Woolfolk: The educational

- psychology of teacher efficacy. Educational Psychology Review, 16(2), 153-175.
- Shweder, R. (Ed.). (1980). Fallible judgment in behavioral research. San Francisco: Jossey- Bass.
- Sillman, E. R., Bahr, R., Beasman, J., & Wildinson, L. C. (2000) Scaffolds for learning to read in an inclusion classroom. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 31, 265-279.
- Silva, P., McGree, R. & Williams, S. (1983). Developmental language delay from three to seven years and its significance for low intelligence and reading difficulities at age seven. *Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology*, 25, 783-793.
- Simon, C. S. (1987). Out of the broom closet and into the classroom: The emerging slp. *Journal of Childhood Communication Disorders*, 11, 41-66.
- Smith, M. A., & Leigh, B. (1997). Virtual subjects: Using the Internet as an alternative source of subjects and research environment. *Behavior Research Methods*, *Instruments, and Computers*, 29, 496-505.
- Smith, S. B., Simmons, D.C., & Kame'enui E.J. (1995) Synthesis of research on
 Phonological awareness: Principles and implications for reading acquisition.

 Technical Report No. 21, National Center to Improve the Tools of Educators,
 University of Oregon.
- Smylie, M. (1988). The enhancement function of staff development: Organizational and psychological antecedents to individual teacher change. *American Educational Research Journal*, 25(1), 1-30.
- Snyder, J. (1994). *Perils and potentials: A tale of two professional development schools.*In L. Darling-Hammond (Ed.), Professional development schools: Schools for

- developing a profession (pp. 98-125). New York: Teachers College Press.
- Speech-Language and Hearing Licensure Act (P.L. 1253, No. 238), S. 1342.

 General Assembly of Pennsylvania. (2008).
- Stake, R. (1995). *The Art of Case Study Research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Stanovich, K. E., Cunningham, A. E., & Freeman, D. J. (1984). Intelligence, cognitive skills, and early reading progress. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 19, 178-303.
- Star, A. & Lacey, P. (1996). Multi-disciplinary assessment: A case study. *British Journal of Special Education*, 23(2), 57-61.
- Stothard, S. E., Snowling, M. J., Bishop, D. V. M., Chipchase, B. B., & Kaplan, C. A. (1998). Language-impaired preschoolers: A follow-up into adolescence. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*, 41, 407–418.
- Straka, E., Losardo, A., & Bricker, D. (1998). Early intervention preservice preparation:

 Program evaluation and Reflections. *The Transdiciplinary Journal* 8(4), 345-363.
- Strauss, A., & Corbin, J. (1990). Basics of qualitative research: Grounded theory procedures and techniques. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Swenson, N. (2000). Comparing traditional and collaborative settings for language intervention. *Communication Disorders quarterly*, 22, 12-18.
- Tallal, P., Curtiss, S., & Kaplan, R. (1989). The San Diego longitudinal study:
 Evaluating the outcomes of preschool impaired in language development.
 Final Report, National Institute of Neurological and Communicative Disease and Stroke. Washington, DC.
- Taylor, O. (1992). Hold fast to dreams. *ASHA*, (34)(5), 53.

- Tellis, W. (1997, July) Introduction to Case Study. *The Qualitative Report*, 3(2).

 Available: http://www.nova.edu.ssss/QR/QR3-2/tellis1.html
- Tesch, R. (1990). Qualitative research: Analysis types and software tools. New York: Falmer Press.
- Thousand, J., & Villa, R. (1989). Enhancing success in heterogeneous schools. In S. Stainback, W. Stainback, & M. Forest (Eds.), *Educating all students in the Mainstream of regular education* (pp. 89-103). Baltimore: Paul H. Brookes.
- Throneburg, R. N., Calvert, L. K., Sturm, J. J., Paramboukas, A. A., & Paul, P. J. (2000)

 American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology, 9, 10-20.
- Trent, S. (1998). False starts and other delemmas of a secondary general education collaborative teacher: A case study. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, *31*, 503-513.
- Tschannen-Moran, M., Woolfolk-Hoy, A. (2001). Teacher efficacy: Capturing an elusive construct. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *17*, 783-805.
- Tschannen-Moran, M., Woolfolk-Hoy, A., & Hoy, W. (1998). Teacher efficacy: Its meaning and measure. *Review of Educational Research*, 68, 202-248.
- Turner, W. E., & Nesdale, A. R. (1985). Phonemic segmentation skill and beginning reading. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 77, 417-427.
- Ukrainetz, T. A. (in press). Contextualized language intervention: Scaffolding K-12 literacy achievement. Eau Claire, WI: Thinking.
- Ukrainetz, T. A, & Fresquez, E. F. (2003). "What isn't language?"" A qualitative study of the role of the school speech-language pathologist. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 34*, 284-298.
- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics Office of Occupational Statistics and Employment

- Projections. Retrieved December 8, 2008, from http://www.bls.gov/oco
- van Kleeck, A. (1995). Emphasizing form and meaning separately in prereading and early reading instruction. *Topics in Language Disorders*, 16(1), 27–49.
- van Kleeck, A. (1998). Preliteracy domains and stages: Laying the foundations for beginning reading. *Journal of Children's Communication Development*, 20, 33–51.
- Vaughn, S., Schumm, J. & Arguelles, M. (1997). The ABCDEs of co-teaching.

 Teaching Exceptional Children, 30, 4-10.
- Wagner, R. K., & Torgesen, J. K. (1987). The nature of phonological processing and its causal role in the acquisition of reading skills. *Psychological Bulletin*, 101, 192-212.
- Walther-Thomas, C., & Bryant, M., & Land, S. (1996). Planning for effective co-Teaching: The Key to successful inclusion. *Remedial and Special Education*, 17(4), 255 – 264.
- Walther-Thomas, C. (1997). Co-teaching experiences: The benefits and problems that teachers and principals report over time. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, *30*, 395-407.
- Walther-Thomas, C., Bryant, M., & Land, S. (1996). Planning for effective co-teaching: The key to successful inclusion. *Remedial and Special Education*, *17*, 255-265.
- Walther-Thomas, C., Korinek, L., McLaughlin, V., & Williams, B. (2000).

 Collaboration for inclusive education: Developing successful programs.

 Needham Heights, MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- Weis, J. P., & Lloyd, J. W. (2002). Congruence between roles and actions of secondary

- special educators in co-taught and special education settings. *The Journal of Special Education 36*, 58-68.
- Welch, M. (1998). The idea of collaboration in special education: An introspective

 Examination of paradigms and promise. *Journal of Education and Psychological*Consultation, 9, 119-142.
- Wheatley, K. (2002). The potential benefits of teacher efficacy doubts for educational reform. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 18(1), 5-22.
- Wilcox, M., Kouri, T., & Caswell, S. (1991). Early language intervention: A comparison of classroom and individual treatment. *American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology*, 1, 49-62.
- Woolfolk-Hoy, A. (2000). *Changes in teacher efficacy during the early years of teaching*.

 Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Educational Research

 Association, New Orleans, LA. [Online]. Retrieved April 19, 2008, from

 http://www.aare.edu.au/o2pap/sor0245.htm.
- Woolfolk, A. E., & Hoy, W. K. (1990). Prospective teachers' sense of efficacy and beliefs about control. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 82, 81-91.
- Wolcott, H. (1994). Transforming qualitative data: Description, analysis, and interpretation. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Yopp, H. K. (1988). The validity and reliability of phonemic awareness tests. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 23, 159-177.
- Zeldin, A., & Pajares, F. (1997). Against the odds: Self-efficacy beliefs of women with math-related careers. Paper presented at the meeting of the American Educational Research Association, Chicago.

Appendix A

An East Stroudsburg University of Pennsylvania and Indiana University of Pennsylvania

Doctoral Dissertation

September 18, 2009	
Dear	_:

I am a doctoral student at East Stroudsburg University of Pennsylvania in collaboration with Indiana University of Pennsylvania. I am in the process of collecting data for my dissertation research. My topic is the self-efficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists regarding their preparation and skills to work collaboratively with regular education classroom teachers. My proposed dissertation study will use a web-based survey instrument to investigate the self-efficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists in Pennsylvania regarding their preparation and skills in the area of collaboration to work with regular education classroom teachers.

I am seeking the participation of speech-language therapists from as many school districts as possible in Pennsylvania. The information obtained from the study will hopefully lead to (a) better understanding of the self-efficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists regarding their pre-service and in-service preparation and skills to work collaboratively with regular eduation classroom teachers, and (b) ways this information may be used in teacher preparation programs at both the pre-service and in-service level of professional development.

In a few days from receipt of this letter, you will be receiving an email explaining the purpose of this survey. The email will also contain a link that will take you directly to the Web based Zoomerang survey.

If you have any questions or concerns, please contact me at 610-588-2976 or by email dhopstetter@ciu20.org. You may also contact Dr. Margot Vagliardo at 570-422-3858 or by email myagliardo@po-box.esu.edu or the IRB Administrator listed below.

In closing, I am hopeful that you will support my research by participating in this study.

Sincerely,

Donna L. Hopstetter Educational Leadership Doctoral Student East Stroudsburg University of Pennsylvania Indiana University of Pennsylvania

This project has been approved by the East Stroudsburg University of Pennsylvania Institutional Review Board for the Protection of Human Subjects
Dr. Shala Davis, IRB Administrator, (570) 422-3536 Ext. 3336

Appendix B

Introduction Letter - Survey Instrument An East Stroudsburg University of Pennsylvania and Indiana University of Pennsylvania Doctoral Dissertation

June 2009

Dear Colleague:

I am a doctoral student at East Stroudsburg University of Pennsylvania in collaboration with Indiana University of Pennsylvania. I am currently in the dissertation phase of my program and collecting data for my dissertation research. The purpose of my study is to investigate the self-efficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists regarding their preparation and skills to work collaboratively with regular education classroom teachers.

As stated in my previous communication, I am seeking the participation of speech-language therapists from as many school districts as possible in Pennsylvania. The information obtained from the study will hopefully lead to (a) better understanding of the self-efficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists regarding their pre-service and in-service preparation and skills to collaborate with regular eduation classroom teachers, and (b) ways this information may be used in teacher preparation programs at both the pre-service and in-service level of professional development. Therefore I would greatly appreciate if you would set aside approximately 20 minutes of what I know is valuable time to complete a Zoomerang Survey.

This letter is to both inform you of my study as well as request your participation. Your participation in this study is completely voluntary and has no affiliation with any school district or Pennsylvania system of higher education. Therefore, should you choose not to participate, there will be no adverse consequences to you or your employment. With web-based surveys all respondents remain completely anonymous. Because this is an electronic survey, your participation in the survey will also serve as your consent for participation in the study. If you choose to participate, the survey should take approximatley 20 minutes to complete. The survey can be accessed by clicking on the following link: www.zoomerang.com.

In closing, I am hopeful you will support the preparation and training of speech-language therapists by sharing your knowledge and participating in this research study. If you have any questions, please contact me at 610-588-2976 or by email dhopstsetter@ciu20.org. You may also contact Dr. Margot Vagliardo at 570-422-3858 or by email mvagliardo@po-box.esu.edu or the IRB administrator listed below. If you wish to receive a copy of the results of my study please email your request to me.

Sincerely,
Donna L. Hopstetter
Educational Leadership Doctoral Student
East Stroudsburg University of Pennsylvania
Indiana University of Pennsylvania

This project has been approved by the East Stroudsburg University of Pennsylvania Institutional Review Board for the Protection of Human Subjects
Dr. Shala Davis, IRB Administrator, (570) 422-3536 x3336

Appendix C Speech-Language Therapist - Survey Instrument

As a doctoral student at East Stroudsburg University, and Indiana University of Pennsylvania I am researching the self-efficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists regarding their preparation and skills to work collaboratively with regular education classroom teachers. The data gathered will be used to assist me in completing research for my dissertation and will enhance awareness of speech-language therapists' pre-service and in-service education, training, and skills in the area of collaboration for the purpose of working with regular education classroom teachers.

Your participation in this study is completely voluntary and has no affiliation with any school district or Pennsylvania system of higher education. Therefore, should you choose not to participate, there will be no adverse consequences to you or your employment. With web-based surveys all respondents remain completely anonymous. Because this is an electronic survey, your participation in the survey will also serve as your consent for participation in the study. If you choose to participate, the survey should take approximately 20 minutes to complete.

For the purpose of this survey *collaboration* is being defined as *individuals contributing* their knowledge, skills and participating in shared decision making as they work together and problem solve to accomplish one or more common and mutually agreed upon goals in classroom settings.

	DEMOGRAPHICS I am: () female () male
2.	Is your position (Check One) () full-time, permanent () full-time, temporary (i.e., substitute, filling in for someone's leave) () part-time, permanent () part-time, temporary (i.e., substitute, assisting with compensatory education, supporting a large case load until, etc)
3.	How long have you been a speech-language therapist? () $1-5$ years () $6-10$ years () $11-15$ years () $16+$ years
4.	How many years of professional experience as a speech-language therapist have you had in the schools? () $1-5$ years () $6-10$ years () $11-15$ years () $16+$
5.	In what type of school(s) are you currently employed? (Check all that apply) () Public Preschool () Private Preschool () Parochial Preschool () Public Elem. School () Private Elem. School () Parochial Elem. School () Public Middle School/Junior High () Private Middle School/Junior High () Parochial Middle School/Junior High () Public High School () Private High School () Parochial High School () Other; please specify:

6.	Would you describe your school(s) as: () rural () urban () surburban
7.	How many years have you been at your current school(s)? () $1-5$ years () $6-10$ years () $11-15$ years () $16+$
8.	 Do you hold a: Pennsylvania State License as a Speech-Language Pathologist ASHA Certificate of Clinical Competency in Speech-Language Pathology (CCC-SLP) Pennsylvania State License as a Speech-Language Pathologist and ASHA Certificate of Clinical Competency in Speech-Language Pathology (CCC-SLP) Clinical Fellowship Year (CFY) in progress
II.	EDUCATION
1.	Highest degree held in speech-language pathology () Bachelors () Masters () Doctorate
2.	Date received highest degree () Prior to 1979 () 1980 – 1989 () 1990 – 1999 () 2000 – Present () Do Not Recall
3a.	Courses taken in undergraduate studies that only addressed collaboration: () 0 courses () 1 course () 2 courses () 3+ courses () Do Not Recall
b.	Courses taken in undergraduate studies that addressed collaboration as a course component: () 0 courses () 1 course () 2 courses () 3+ courses () Do Not Recall
c.	Courses taken, entirely or partially, on collaboration fell into the following categories (check all that apply): () Speech-Language Pathology () Special Education () General Education () Other: Please specify
d	. Courses in undergraduate studies that addressed collaboration as a course component, approximately how much time was spent discussing collaboration? () 1 week or less () 2 weeks () 3 weeks () 4+weeks () Do Not Recall
4a	Courses taken in graduate studies that only addressed collaboration: () 0 courses () 1 course () 2 courses () 3+ courses () Do Not Recall
	Courses taken in graduate studies that addressed collaboration as a course component:

C.	 Courses taken, entirely or partially, on collaboration fell into the following categories (check all that apply): () Speech-Language Pathology () Special Education () General Education
	() Other: Please specify
d	. Courses in graduate studies that addressed collaboration as a course component, approximately how much time was spent discussing collaboration? () 1 week or less () 2 weeks () 3 weeks () 4+weeks () Do Not Recall
5.	As part of my clinical training, practicum experiences, and/or student teaching experience, I participated in collaborative service delivery. () Yes () No
6.	I believe course work and opportunities for practical experience on collaboration should be a part of pre-service education? () Yes () No
Ш	I.CONTINUING EDUCATION
	-
1.	Since receiving my highest degree, I have takencourses at or through a college or university on collaboration () 0 courses () 1 course () 2 courses () 3+ courses
2.	Since my employment in the schools, I have attendedworkshops, staff trainings and/or lectures on collaboration () 0 workshops/trainings/lectures () 1 workshop/trainings/lecture () 2workshop/trainings/lectures () 3 + workshops/trainings/lectures
3.	I engage in continuing education activities on collaboration because () I am interested personally/professionally () My colleague(s) and I have volunteered to work in a collaborative model () My school/district is moving towards/is using collaborative models of instruction () I am required to do this for my job () Not applicable
4.	The most beneficial forms of continuing education to learn about and develop my knowledge and skills of collaboration, have been (Check all that apply) () Course work () Workshops/trainings/lectures () Time spent planning/discussing/communicating with colleagues () Not applicable

5.	As part of my past or current employment situation, I provide therapy/instruction in a
	collaborative classroom with a regular education classroom teacher:
	() Yes, I do this because:
	() The classroom teacher and I choose to collaborate
	() My school/district requires the speech-language therapists to work collaboratively in
	the classroom(s)
	() No, I do not do this because:
	() The classroom teacher and I did not choose to collaborate
	() My school/district does not require the speech-language therapists to work
	collaboratively in the classroom(s)
6.	I believe instruction and practical experience on collaboration should be a part of inservice education?
	() Yes () No
IV	PERCEIVED SKILLS AND KNOWLEDGE
- • •	TENCHI I DINIBLO III I DINIBLO II
1.	Please indicate the degree to which you agree or disagree with each of the following statements by checking the appropriate box to the right of each statement.

SA =Strongly Agree A=Agree UN=Uncertain D=Disagree SD=Strongly Disagree

	1	2	3	4	5
	SA	A	UN	D	SD
Collaboration requires equality among					
participants who collaborate					
Collaboration requires mutual goals between					
participants who collaborate					
Collaboration requires shared responsibility for					
participation and decision making					
Collaboration requires shared resources, such					
as time, expertise, space, instructional					
materials, information, and special techniques					
among participants who collaborate					
Collaboration requires individuals to share					
accountability for outcomes of their decisions					
Educators should be required to collaborate					
Collaboration must be embedded in one's job					
Collaboration must be a part of the school					
improvement plan					
Teachers need structured opportunities to learn					
how to collaborate					
Teachers need structured opportunities to learn					
interpersonal communication and support skills					
Collaborative teams need blocks of scheduled					
time for co-planning					

Collaborative teams need opportunities to			
define roles and responsibilities			
Administrators and collaborative teams must			
meet on a regular basis			
Collaboration does not take place in isolation			
Collaboration does not happen quickly	·		

2. Please indicate the degree to which you agree or disagree with each of the following statements by checking the appropriate box to the right of each statement.

 $SA = Strongly \ Agree \ A = Agree \ UN = Uncertain \ D = Disagree \ SD = Strongly \ Disagree.$

	1 SA	2 A	3 UN	4 D	5 SD
I posess a high level of confidence in my abilities as a					
speech-language therapist					
I possess the communication skills needed to collaborate					
with regular education classroom colleagues					
I posess respect and trust for my regular education					
classroom colleagues					
I posess flexibility when working with others					
I posess the ability to problem solve in a team situation					

3. Please indicate the degree to which you agree or disagree with each of the following statements by checking the appropriate box to the right of each statement.

SA = Strongly Agree A = Agree UN = Uncertain D = Disagree SD = Strongly Disagree

	1	2	3	4	5
	SA	A	UN	D	SD
I am knowledgable regarding the types of co-teaching, e.g.,					
one teach – one support, station teaching, parallel teaching,					
alternative teaching, and team teaching					
I feel competent that I have enough educational training to					
collaborate with regular education classroom teachers					
I feel competent that I have enough clinical and					
instructional skills to collaborate with regular education					
classroom teachers					
I feel I could benefit from additional coursework in the area					
of collaboration					
I feel I could benefit from additional in-servicing such as					
workshops/training/lectures in the area of collaboration					
Given professional preparation in collaboration, time to co-					
plan, resources, space support from regular education					
colleagues and administrative support I would volunteer to					

work collaboratively with the regular education classroom teacher			
I feel competent to collaborate			

V. Willingness to Participate in an Interview

If you are willing to participate in a phone interview in order to provide the researcher with additional information about your beliefs regarding your training in collaboration with regular education teachers, please include:

Your full name Mailing Address Phone number Email address.

No personal identifying information about you will be published or made available to anyone. All personal identifying information gathered from you will be deleted from documents and replaced by codes. All survey and interview responses will be kept in a locked cabinet and destroyed following the completion of the study.

Appendix D Speech-Language Therapist - Interview Instrument

Thank you for agreeing to take part in this interview. Your participation will contribute to a more thorough understanding of pre-service and in-service training you may have received in, collaboration, and your self-efficacy beliefs surrounding your competency to work collaboratively with regular education classroom teachers.

As indicated in the pre-contact letter and the email communication introducing my study, I am a doctoral student at East Stroudsburg University of Pennsylvania in collaboration with Indiana University of Pennsylvania. I am currently in the dissertation phase of my program.

The purpose of my study is to investigate the self-efficacy beliefs of speech-language therapists regarding their skills in collaboration to work with regular education classroom teachers. Your participation in this study is completely voluntary. This study is not affiliated with any school district or Pennsylvania system of higher education. You have the right to withdraw at any time without penalty by verbally requesting to stop the interview. No personal identifying information about you will be published or made available to anyone. All identifying information such as years of service, setting in which employed, etc. will be deleted, disguised, or reported in the aggregated to protect confidentiality. Information gathered from you will be kept in a locked cabinet and destroyed following the completion of the study. The entire interview should take approximately 20 - 30 minutes. Please provide your consent to participate in the interview by verbally responding with "yes" or "no" to the following question, "Do you (*First and Last Name* of Interviewee) agree to participate in the interview to discuss "self-efficacy beliefs of speechlanguage therapist in collaboration to work with regular education classroom teachers." Yes (Circle interviewee's response) Do you have any questions before we begin? Do I have your permission to tape the interview? Yes No (Circle interviewee's response)

For the purpose of this survey, collaboration is being defined as individuals contributing their knowledge and skills and participating in shared decision making as they work together and problem solve to accomplish one or more common and mutually agreed upon goals. Self-Efficacy is being defined as a person's beliefs or expectations about his/her ability to accomplish certain tasks successfully or demonstrate certain behaviors.

I. EDUCATION

- 1. During your **undergraduate** studies how many courses did you have that only addressed collaboration? How many **undergraduate** courses did you have that addressed collaboration as a course component?
 - During your studies what was the name of the course(s) you had on collaboration?
 - a. What topics were covered in that course(s)?
 - b. What do you believe you gained from taking the course(s)?

c. Of the courses taken as part of your undergraduate studies that addressed collaboration as a course component approximately how much time was spent discussing collaboration?

Do you feel enough time was or was not spent discussing collaboration? Please explain

- d. Based on the courses you have taken in collaboration, what could be improved? Why?
- 2. During your **graduat**e studies how many courses did you have that only addressed collaboration? How many graduate courses did you have that addressed collaboration as a course component?

During your **graduate** studies what was the name of the course(s) you had on collaboration?

- a. What topics were covered in that course(s)?
- b. What do you believe you gained from taking the course(s)?
- c. Of the courses taken as part of your **graduate** studies that addressed collaboration as a course component approximately how much time was spent discussing collaboration?

Do you feel enough time was or was not spent discussing collaboration? Please explain

d. Based on the courses you have taken in collaboration, what could be improved? Why?

II. CONTINUING EDUCATION

1. Have you gained professional skills regarding collaboration in the form of _____. The initiative to attend this activity was <u>your choice</u> or <u>mandated by your employer</u>.

	Yes	No	My	My
			Choice	Employer
Workshop(s)				
Conference(s)				

Staff Training(s)		
Training from Colleagues		
Professional Journal Readings		

2.	What topics were covered in the workshops, conferences, staff trainings, trainings from
	colleagues and/or professional journal reading you engaged in regarding collaboration?

a. What specifically do you feel you gained from participating in:

The workshops –

The conferences:

The staff trainings:

Trainings from colleagues:

Professional Journal Readings:

- b. What do you feel you are now able to do as a result of the professional preparation you received from your participation in these activities regarding collaborative with regular education classroom teachers? Please explain.
- c. What was your the goal or reason for participating in these professional preparation activities in collaboration?
- d. Has your professional preparation increased working relationship with regular classroom teachers?

III.SKILLS AND KNOWLEDGE

- 1. What percentage of your day or week do you engage in activities of collaboration such as co-planning, instructional delivery, and/or student assessment with regular education teachers?
- 2. Describe the nature of your interaction(s) with regular education teachers.
- 3. Describe any experiences you had that support or hinder collaboration with regular education classroom teachers.
- 4. Please elaborate on what has contributed to a successful collaboration experience or an unsuccessful collaboration experience.
- 5. Is there anything you would like to add?

Again, thank you for your participation in this study. I deeply appreciate the time you took to speak with me along with the information you shared. This information has the potential to enhance awareness of what to include specifically in pre-service and in-service preparation programs for school based speech-language therapists regarding collaboration with regular education classroom teachers.

Appendix E

Conceptual Framework for Self-Efficacy

	ework for Seif-Efficacy	D 1
Key Elements in Lit Review	Descriptors	Researchers
Perceived Self-	Judgment of one's ability to organize and execute	Bandura (1977)
Efficacy	given types of performances	
	What a person believes he or she is capable of doing	Bandura (1977)
under various circumstances Judgments are task and situation specific, meaning		
	Bandura (1977)	
	they are made in reference to some type of goal	
	Perceived capabilities of self are important to future	Bandura (1977)
	goals and the control they exercise over their	
	environment	
	Influences courses of action to take, amount of effort	Bandura (1986);
	that is applied, perseverance in tasks, thought	Lent, Brown &
	processes and	Hackett (1994)
	emotional reactions when confronted with obstacles	
	Mediators for our behavior and behavioral change	Henson (2001);
		Bandura (1986)
	Impacts success and failure of a given task	Henson (2001)
	Belief in one's skills	Pajares (1997)
	Belief in one's academic capabilities as a result of	Plourde (2002)
	course work and field experience	
Sources of Self-	Mastery experiences or previous performance	Bandura (1986)
Efficacy	achievement	
Development		
	Vicarious experiences, social comparison and models	Bandura (1986); Schunk (1981, 1983, 1989)
	Verbal persuasion	Bandura (1986);
		Zeldin & Pajares
		(1997)
	Physiological and affective states	Bandura (1986)
Influences of	Influence an individual's self-regulation, motivation	Pajares (1997);
Self-Efficacy	and choices one makes	Herman, Meece &
Beliefs		McCombs (2000)
	Strong predictors of personal accomplishments	Bandura (1997)
	Linked to social skills	Moe & Ziess (1982)
	Linked to assertiveness	Lee (1983, 1984)
	Teaching behaviors	Pajares (1996)
Teacher Self-	Self-judgment of ability to function as an instructional	Fletcher (1990)
Efficacy Beliefs	leader in the classroom/contribution of school	, , ,
_	instructional policy	
	Ability to which teachers believe they have the	Berman,

	capacity to affect student performance; promote students' learning; beliefs about their convictions that they can influence how well student learn	McLaughlin, Bass, Pauly &Zellman (1997); Tschannen- Moran & Woolfolk- Hoy (2001); Guskey & Passaro (1994)
	Shaughnessy (2004	
	Belief they can control the reinforcement of actions within themselves or in the environment	Rotter (1966)
Development of Teachers Self- Efficacy Beliefs	Strong relationship among efficacy, classroom and school decision making; personal and teaching efficacy are highly related	Moore & Esselman (1992)
	School climate is related positively and negatively to classroom practices and teachers collegiality	Moore & Esselman (1992)
	Personal and general teaching efficacy is influenced by different levels of training and professional development	Ross (1994)
	Personal teaching efficacy beliefs in experienced teachers appears difficult to change because of beliefs that have solidified with experience and time	Ross (1994)
	Professional development opportunities are believed to affect teachers' efficacy beliefs by compelling them to think critically and behave in a manner that improves their classroom and instructional practices	Henson (2001)
	Teacher efficacy beliefs play a role in teachers' development of knowledge and practices that influence their effectiveness in instructional strategies	Smylie (1988); Tschannen-Moran, Woolfolk-Hoy & Hoy (1998)
	Teacher efficacy beliefs affect interaction with students and other professionals	Smylie (1988); Tschannen-Moran, Woolfolk-Hoy & Hoy (1998)
Teacher Efficacy of Novice Teachers	Efficacy is most easily influenced in the early years of learning	Bandura (1977)
	Early years of teaching are critical to the long term development of teacher efficacy	Bandura (1986); Woolfolk-Hoy (2000)

Appendix F

Conceptual Framework for Collaboration

Characteristics of	Descriptors	Researchers
Collaboration	Descriptors	Researchers
		Enjoyd & Cook (2002)
Parity		Friend & Cook (2003;
	Danagina all	Ryndak & Alper (1996)
	Recognizes all	Star & Lacey (1996); Rainforth, York &
	contributions	Macdonald (1992)
	Builds mutual respect	Star & Lacey (1996)
Mutual Goals		O'Malley (2000); Darling- Hamond &
Mutual Goals		McLaughlin (1995); Johnson & Bauer (1992); Pugach & Johnson (2002); Rainforth, York & Macdonald (1992); Falvey (1989)
Shared		Friend & Cook (2003)
Responsibility for		
Decision Making		
	Equally shared	Ryndak & Alper (1996)
	responsibility for	
	decision making	
Shared Resources		Friend & Cook (2003, 1992)
211011111111111111111111111111111111111	Shared space	Vaughn, Schumm & Anguelles (1997)
	Shared planning time	Vaughn, Schumm & Anguelles (1997)
	Increased professional knowledge base	Pugach & Johnson (1995); Louis, Kruse & Marks (1996); Rosenholtz (1989); Snyder (1994); Trent (1998); Walther-Thomas (1997); Rainforth, York & Macdonald (1992)
~.		
Shared		Friend & Cook (2003)
Accountability for		
Outcomes		
	Jointly share success and failures of student learning	Vaughn, Schumm & Anguelles (1997)
Flexibility	_	Roller, Rodriques, Warner & Lindahl (1992)
•	Openness to new ideas	Roller, Rodriques, Warner & Lindahl (1992)
Administrative Support		Friend & Cook (1992); Cook & Friend (1990)